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BUYER:                                                     Name: Eileen M. Falcone CPPB 
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I. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

A. General Requirements: 
 
Students and their teachers who are enrolled at New Bridge Learning center should have access to 
any Division Wide purchases made at the K-12 (72 Schools) or Elementary (46 Schools) level at no 
additional cost. The Pre-K students at New Bridge Learning Center (150 each year) are housed at 
this location to accommodate overflow or lack of school space. The teachers and students exist as 
their own entity in PowerSchool and Clever but would need access to division level purchases and 
resources provisioned by their homeschool.   

 
Students who are attending Virginia Randolph Education Center (VREC) and PACE should be 
included in any purchases made by the Academy of Virginia Randolph (AVR). This is our alternative 
school and all 3 schools reside in the same building, but are denoted as separate entities in 
PowerSchool and Clever. 

 

1. The proposed solution shall have the capability of content scaffolding to include a tiered 
approach and acceleration for students who need additional help with mathematics skills 
and those who need to demonstrate mathematics gains of one or more than one year. 

 
2. The Successful Offeror(s) shall provide a solution where the digital content can be created 

with an Internet consumer in mind rather than a traditional textbook consumer.  Therefore, 
the content must be rich in multimedia, interactive in nature and sufficiently compelling to 
lead the student in a self-directed manner. 

 

3. Intervention materials shall be systematic and simple in design, addressing one or more 
of the selected areas of mathematics (number and number sense, computational fluency, 
problem solving) and support a variety of instructional settings.   

 

4. Instructional materials for students receiving intervention shall include lessons and 
activities covering an appropriate range of mathematics skills, are age appropriate, 
include engaging tasks of high interest, build upon conceptual understanding, and 
support/remediate basic skills in an adaptive manner. The materials provided shall be 
digital or blended format. 

 

5. Materials shall align to the Virginia Standards of Learning (Virginia SOLs) and for Pre K 
Virginia’s Foundation Blocks for Early Learning, a comprehensive set of standards for 4-
year-olds.  Tier II Intervention should target improvement of basic skill deficits in the 
selected areas of mathematics (number and number sense, computational fluency, 
problem solving) while supporting and enhancing Tier I (Virginia SOLs) instructional 
objectives in a different instructional design rather than replace or duplicate it. Tier II is 
not an SOL Remediation Program.  

 

6. Materials used need not be grade level specific in order to provide intervention that meets 
the instructional level of each student. 

 

7. Materials shall provide opportunities for differentiation to include intensive, explicit, and 
systematic instruction. These materials should be targeted specifically to selected areas 
of mathematics (number and number sense, computational fluency, problem solving). 
 

8.  The proposed solution shall allow teachers to monitor student progress in the resource.  
This will allow teachers to group students and/or assign additional topics as needed for 
remediation.  
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III. TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 
A. User Interface 

 
1. Browser Support – the proposed solution shall: 

a. Have compatibility with the current versions of multiple browsers- at minimum, 
current versions of Edge, Safari, and Chrome browsers.  

b. Maintain compatibility with listed browsers and future versions/updates/releases of 
the listed browsers for the duration of the contract.  

c. Only require standard browser plugins.  
 

2. The proposed solution will be compliant with the Americans with Disabilities Act 
requirements for accessibility. 
 

3. The proposed solution shall be cloud-based and delivered via the Internet over wireless 
LANs to the client’s browser. 
 

4. The proposed solution shall provide an intuitive user interface that allows for ease of 
use by teachers and students. 
 

5. The proposed solution shall support mobile technology including but not limited to the 
specific mobile devices currently used in HCPS (iOS, Chromebooks, Windows, and 
Android Platforms)  

 

B. Integration 
 

1. The proposed solution shall provide methods for user account administration that are 
easy to use and maintain.  
 

2. The proposed solution shall support a single sign-on solution that does not require staff 
or students to have a separate account or password for accessing the vendor’s 
application. 
     

3. The proposed solution shall allow for LTI, Azure Active Directory or LDAP as a method 
of authentication and authorization. 
 

4. The proposed solution shall provide a means to identify the individual or client using the 
application, authenticate the individual and determine the authorities and rights granted 
to that individual as well as a reporting engine for tracking usage and progress. 

5. Any requirements for student, staff, course, roster or school information must be 
supported through a common specification.  The exchange of data must be through a 
common protocol and not require the installation of vendor-specific software in the 
HCPS internal infrastructure.  HCPS currently supports the following means of 
exchanging student information in order of preference but will accept other non-vendor 
specific protocols: 
a. LTI integration as a Tool Provider(TP) with our LMS Solution (Schoology) 
b. SIF - Student Information framework 
c. Exchange of information through Clever - a third party vendor for exchanging common data 

for school systems; The Successful Offeror is responsible for any costs incurred with Clever 
implementation.  

d. API integration with our SIS, PowerSchool 
e. File exchange to a vendor-supported sFTP server 
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6. No additional fees may be charge to HCPS for data integration. 
 

7. Solutions that allow for seamless integration of their product through the IMS Global 
interoperability standards are preferred.   

 
C. Infrastructure and System Administration 

 
1. HCPS’s preference is a SaaS system and hosting the solution on a 3rd party, such as AWS or 

Azure, is acceptable.  

 

2. The proposed solution will provide a secure, web-based system for data in transit and at 
rest.  
 

3. Successful Offeror(s) will document compliance with all local, state, and federal laws 
related to student data privacy. 
 

4. The proposed solution shall contain neither commercial content nor serve as a vehicle 
to market goods and services. 
 

5. Web Accessibility 
The digital math resource must comply with the Information Technology Accessibility Act (Code 
of Virginia - 2-2-3500) which requires that information technology developed, purchased, or 
provided is accessible to individuals with disabilities.  

a. The solution shall be accessible to persons with disabilities, including: 
i. Blindness, color blindness, visual impairment 
ii. Deafness, hearing impairment 
iii. Speech impairment 
iv. Mobility, strength, dexterity or reach impairment 

b. The solution shall support the use of commonly available screen readers. 
c. The solution shall comply with Federal Web Accessibility Standards (part of Section 

508 of the Rehabilitation Act). 
d. The solution shall meet Level A and Level AA guidelines as specified by the W3C's 

WCAG 2.0 guidelines.  
 

6. The proposed solution shall be able to handle at least 60,000+ concurrent HCPS users 
with less than 30 ms latency.  Offeror(s) must provide comprehensive documentation to 
evidence the ability to accommodate concurrent users based on data collected from a 
similar environment. 
 

7. If the solution is reliant on LDAP authentication, HCPS will only accept a defined 
external IP address to allow Firewall transactions and will not accept the allowance of 
entire network segments. 
 

8. HCPS shall have the ability to submit requests for alteration of the digital content 
(including additional supporting data, modification of current data, or removal of data 
deemed inappropriate by HCPS) via email or web-based forms embedded in the digital 
content. 
 

9. Provide all documentation for each piece of software equipment, or software, including 
copyright information, all operator and user manual, training materials necessary for 
the proper and successful use of the software where an installation or configuration on 
HCPS network or devices are required. 

https://leg1.state.va.us/cgi-bin/legp504.exe?000+cod+TOC02020000035000000000000
https://leg1.state.va.us/cgi-bin/legp504.exe?000+cod+TOC02020000035000000000000
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D. Computer, Software and Network Specifications  

 
The proposed solution shall meet all performance requirements defined in this document and shall 
be currently compatible with the following minimum computer specifications as well as  maintaining 
compatibility with updates/patches/versions of listed software for the duration of the contract (at a 
minimum beginning with the versions listed below) 
 
1. Staff District-wide; All High, Middle Students and limited numbers for Elementary Students 

a. Software 

i. OS – Windows 10, 1903 or higher: 64-bit 

ii. Browsers – Google Chrome 86.x or above; Microsoft Edge 89.x or above 

iii. Java – 1.8.0_251 or above 

iv. PDF Reader - embedded within Chrome and Edge 

v. Adobe Reader - standalone application 

vi. Adobe Shockwave – 12.2 or above 

vii. O365 Pro Plus 

b. Hardware: 

i. Latitude 3380s model: 

1. Specifications  

a. Display - 13.3-inch HD Anti-Glare LED with integrate webcam and 

noise reducing array microphone 

b. Hard drive - 128GB SSD 

c. Processor - 2.50 GHz Intel® i5 -Dual Core 

d. Memory - 8GB DDR3 SDRAM 

e. Graphics Card – 128MB Dedicated VRAM; 1366X768 - Native 

Resolution 

f. Network Connections - Built-in Wireless Card (802.11ac) and 

10/100/1000 Gigabit Ethernet 

g. Other: 

i. Stereo headphone/Microphone combo jack 

ii. Latitude 5420 model:  

1. Specifications 

a. Display - 14" FHD (1920x1080) Non-Touch, Anti-Glare, IPS, 

250nits, WLAN/WWAN, HD Camera 

b. Hard drive – 128GB PCIe NVMe Class 35 SSD 

c. Processor – 11th Generation Intel® Core™ I3-1125G4 (4 Core, 

8M cache, base 2.0GHz, up to 3.7GHz) 

d. Memory – 8GB DDR4 Non-ECC 

e. Network connections - Intel® Wi-Fi 6 AX201 2x2 .11ax 160MHz + 

Bluetooth 5.1 

f. Graphic cards - I3-1125G4 Trans, Intel UHD Graphics, 

Thunderbolt 

iii. Latitude 3310 model 

1. Specifications: 

a. Display – 13.3" HD (1366 x 768) Anti-Glare Non-Touch, Camera & 

Microphone, WLAN Capable 

b. Hard drive – 128GB PCIe NVMe Class 35 SSD 

c. Processor – 8th Generation Intel® Core™ i5-8265U Processor (4 

Core, 6MB Cache,1.6GHz,15W) 

d. Memory – 8GB DDR4 Non-ECC 
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e. Network Connections - Intel Dual Band Wireless Driver 9560 

(802.11ac) 2x2 + Bluetooth 5.0; Intel® Dual Band Wireless AC 

9560 (802.11ac) 2x2 + Bluetooth 5.0 

f. Graphics card - Intel® Core™ i3-8145U Processor w/Intel® HD 

Graphics 620 

iv. Latitude 3180 Education model – Elementary Carts: 
1. Specifications: 

a. Display - 11-inch HD with integrated webcam 
b. Hard drive - 64GB eMMC Storage - Hard drive 
c. Processor - Intel® Pentium® N4200 
d. Memory - 4GB 1600MHz LPDDR3 
e. Video Card – Intel integrated HD graphics 4600 
f. Network Connections – Intel Dual Band Wireless-AC 7265 

802.11AC Wi-Fi + BT 4.0 LE Wireless Card (2x2) 
g. Other: 

i. 2 speakers 
ii. 1 Combo headphone/microphone jack 
iii. USB card reader 

2. Dell Chromebooks (primary device for all elementary students) 
a. Software 

i. Chromium OS 86.x+ or above 
b. Hardware: 

i. Dell Chromebook 3180 (touch & non-touch): 
1. Specifications: 

a. Display - 11.6-inch HDF 
b. Hard drive - 16GB eMMC 
c. Processor - Celeron N3060  
d. Memory - 4GB  
e. Video Card - Intel integrated HD graphics 4600 
f. Network - Built-in Wireless Card (802.11a/g/n) 
g. Other: 

i. 2 speakers 
ii. Headphone/Microphone jack 
iii. Integrated webcam 

ii. Dell Chromebook 3100 (touch & non-touch): 
1. Specifications:  

a. Display - 11.6" HD (1366 x 768) Anti-Glare Non-Touch, 
Camera & Microphone, WLAN Capable - Display 

b. Hard drive - 16GB eMMC 
c. Processor - Intel Celeron N4020 (Dual Core, up to 2.8GHz, 

4M Cache, 6W) 1 USB Type-C, 1 USB 3.1 
d. Memory - 4GB 2400MHz LPDDR4 Non-ECC 

 
3. iOS Devices - Elementary and Secondary 

a. Software 
i. iOS version - 14.x 
ii. Safari browser 

b. Hardware (Based on iPad MR7F2LL/A) 
i. Specifications: 

1. Display - 9.7-inch (diagonal) LED-backlit, multi-touch with IPS 
technology 

2. Storage – 32GB 
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3. Wireless-A, Wireless-AC, Wireless-B, Wireless-G, Wireless-N 
4. Bluetooth 4.2 Technology 
5. Camera, Photos and Video Recording 

 
E. Networking Environment 

 

1. Location WAN Circuit Bandwidth 
a. 400 Mbps or greater Comcast ENS Data WAN Circuit to High Schools. 
b. 300 Mbps or greater Comcast ENS Data WAN Circuit to Middle Schools. 
c. 200 Mbps or greater Comcast ENS Data WAN Circuit to Elementary Schools. 
d. 100 Mbps or greater Comcast ENS Data WAN Circuit to remote Administrative sites. 

 
2. Data Center WAN Circuit Bandwidth 

a. 10 Gbps Comcast ENS Backbone WAN connectivity between; Comcast and the 
Data Center facility. 
 

3. District Internet Bandwidth 
a. 2x 4 Gbps Comcast ENI circuits to provide a total district bandwidth of 8 Gbps of 

Internet Service to the Data Center which is then distributed to the entire district via 
the size and type of WAN circuits listed above. 
 

4. Firewall Protection 
a. Cisco Firepower 9300 series Firewalls. 

 
5. Local Area Network and Wireless Infrastructure 

a. All Schools/Sites utilize either 1 Gbps or 10 Gbps fiber backbone connections 
between their MDF & IDF network closets. 

b. All Schools/Sites utilize a combination of LightWeight or Cloud-Controlled wireless 
access points capable of supporting the IEEE 802.11 ac wireless standard and are 
connected at 1 Gbps, or greater, to Cisco Catalyst 9200 & 9300 series POE 
switches. 

 
F. Training and Support 

 
1. The Successful Offeror(s) shall provide a toll -free number for help desk support to HCPS at a 

minimum from 8 am to 5 pm EST, Monday- Friday. 
 
2. The Successful Offeror(s) shall provide any required training for implementation of the proposed 

solution to include options for continued training including on-site, webinar and printed 
materials.  
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ATTACHMENT B 
PRICING OPTIONS AFTER ORALS 

 
Provide pricing as it relates to the proposed solution Price 

Price per Student Not Applicable – ST Math is price an annual subscription per site per year 

Price per Teacher Not Applicable – ST Math is price an annual subscription per site per year 

Price per Classroom Not Applicable – ST Math is price an annual subscription per site per year 

Price per Site $12,000 

 

Price for District License PreK-5 

District Total (46 Elementary) 
$432,000* 
*Includes additional MIND in Kind grant funding due to volume  

 

Price for District License PreK-8 

District Total (46 Elementary & 12 Middle) 
$546,000* 
*Includes additional MIND in Kind grant funding due to volume  

Price for District License PreK-12 Not applicable – ST Math offers K-8 

Price for District License  6-8 District Total MS. 12 Middle Schools  
$144,000 based on 12 Middle Schools  

Price for District License 6-12 Not applicable – ST Math offers K-8 

Price for District License 9-12 Not applicable – ST Math offers K-8  

1 day of Professional Development- train the trainer model (20 
Elementary or Secondary ILCs/ITRTs, 3 Educational Specialist, 
+ 1 additional personnel- total of 20 +) 

$ 

1 day of Professional Development - price per teacher Not applicable 

1 day of Professional Development for Elementary or Secondary 
School Staff- approximately 35 - 100 

$2,500 for up 1 day of professional development for staff of up to 25 

 

Additional Professional Development models 

$1,500 per offering for up to 2 hour online professional development.  

EXHIBIT D



ST Math Academy online self-paced learning is available to all educators at no 
additional charge.  

Printed materials – provide list of pricing for each product 
offered 

Not Applicable - There are no printed materials/consumables for ST Math K8 

Consumables – provide list of pricing for each product offered Not Applicable - There are no printed materials/consumables for ST Math K8 

Provide information on price breaks for volume purchases.  

MIND Research as a Not for Profit is able to provide MIND in Kind grants each year based on various commitment criteria.   

Implementation or Startup Cost if any: 

Recurring Cost for renewal  year 2-5   

Year 1: All costs above are annual recurring subscription fees.  Additional Professional Learning is optional.  

Year 2: All costs above are annual recurring subscription fees.  Additional Professional Learning is optional. 

Year 3: All costs above are annual recurring subscription fees.  Additional Professional Learning is optional. 

Year 4: All costs above are annual recurring subscription fees.  Additional Professional Learning is optional. 

  



Attachment C 

Pricing Scenario – After Orals 

Provide pricing for the scenarios below based off pricing being offered for the proposed solution. Offers must put a Price for each scenario they are submitting for 
based on the information provided below. All cost must be included. This scenario is for Year One. 

A B C 

Scenario Methodology: (i.e. What is included and how    the price in 
Column C was determined.   

Price 

Provide pricing for an annual subscription for one 
site license for an elementary school with 415 
students.  

This price includes Annual ST Math Software subscription for 
all students, teachers, and administrators - One (1) 
Professional Learning Offering, ST Math Implementation 
Support, Annual access to ST Math Academy on-demand 
professional learning modules, Embedded program help and 
tutorials, Ongoing Minor Software Updates, Technical Support 
Via Email and/or Phone  

$12,000 

Provide pricing for an annual subscription for one 
site license for a middle school with 900 students.   

This price includes Annual ST Math Software subscription for 
all students, teachers, and administrators - One (1) 
Professional Learning Offering, ST Math Implementation 
Support, Annual access to ST Math Academy on-demand 
professional learning modules, Embedded program help and 
tutorials, Ongoing Minor Software Updates, Technical Support 
Via Email and/or Phone 

$12,000 

Provide pricing for an annual subscription for one 
site license for a high school with 1,700 students.  

This price includes Annual ST Math Software subscription for 
all students, teachers, and administrators - One (1) 
Professional Learning Offering, ST Math Implementation 
Support, Annual access to ST Math Academy on-demand 
professional learning modules, Embedded program help and 
tutorials, Ongoing Minor Software Updates, Technical Support 
Via Email and/or Phone 

$12,000 

Printed Materials (Offerors must provide the number 
of copies needed and price, if applicable, based on 
scenario information) 

 Not Applicable - There are no printed 
materials/consumables for ST Math 
K8 

Consumables (Offerors must provide the number of 
copies needed and price, if applicable, based on 
scenario information) 

 Not Applicable - There are no printed 
materials/consumables for ST Math 
K8 

Provide pricing for 1 day (6 hours) of on-site 
professional development training for staff of 25 

Includes preparation, materials and travel costs to site.  $2,500 



 Total Cost  $ 

Take the Total Cost from above and divide by the number of students offeror has submitted for, based on the 
number of students in each scenario. (i.e. if submitting only for 415 students then divide the total cost by 415.  If 
submitting for 900 and 1,700 then divided the total cost by 2,600) 

Per Student price 

$14.80 
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June 29, 2021      
 
Ms. Karen Talbert 
MIND Research Institute 
5281 California Ave., Ste 300 
Irvine, CA 92617 
 
RE: RFP 21-2142-3EMF – Digital Mathematics (PreK-12) Curriculum for Tier I,II and III 
 
Dear Ms. Talbert: 
 
This letter is to inform you that your firm has been selected to enter into negotiations for the above referenced 
solicitation. 
 
To begin this process, please submit the following items: 

1. Answers to the attached list of questions. (Attachment A) 
2. Provide all cost for proposed solution on Attachment B.  
3. For evaluation purposes, provide pricing for the attached scenarios (Attachment C). This form has been 

modified and is not the same as in the RFP. Pricing for the scenarios shall be based on the pricing listed 
on Attachment B 
 

Please provide the above items by 3:00 p.m. on July 9, 2021.  A response via email attachment is sufficient.  
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at 804-501-5637 or fal51@henrico.us. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Eileen M. Falcone 
Assistant Division Director 
 
  

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE 
Purchasing Division 
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Attachment A 
RFP #21-2142-3EMF 

Digital Mathematics (PreK-12) Curriculum for Tier I,II and III 
 

OFFEROR:  MIND Research Institute ST Math 
1. If HCPS chooses not to sync with PowerSchool directly, what other options are there for 

rostering and data sync beyond CSV file through SFTP? (i.e. Clever or other) 
a. Beyond CSV file through SFTP, MIND offers Clever, Classlink and OneRoster 

synchronizations.  
 

2. What version of the proposed solution is being offered for this contract?  If awarded the 
contract how are new versions or updated version handled? 

a. ST Math generation 6 which is an HTLM5 web delivered SaaS solution.  Enhancements 
and modifications are included with subscriptions  

 
 

3. Is the proposed solution proven to be compatible with the following devices used by HCPS? 
 
Device  Grade 

Level 
Explanation 

iPad PreK – K Yes – launched through a browser.  

Chromebook  1-5 Yes – launched through a browser. 

Laptop 6-12 Yes – launched through a browser. 

Students using non-grade 
specific device(i.e. iPad by 
any grade level SPED student) 

 Yes – launched through a browser. 

  
 
 

 



RFP Name:

Digital Mathematics (PreK-12)

Curriculum for Tier I, Tier II, and Tier III

for Henrico County Public Schools

Response to Solicitation No.:

21-2142-3EMF

Prepared for

Henrico County Public Schools

Opening Date:

April 29th, 2021

EXHIBIT E



TABLE OF CONTENTS

 Tab 1:  Introduction & Signed Forms ........................  ... Pg. 2-11

 Tab 2:  Statement of the Scope .................................. Pg. 12-25

 Tab 3:  Offeror Qualifications, Experience, Resumes, and Financial

Capacity ..................................................................... Pg. 26-34

 Tab 4:  Service Approach & Implementation .............. Pg. 35-40

 Tab 5: Training & Professional Development ............. Pg. 41-42

 Tab 6: Technical Requirements ................................  . Pg. 43-44

 Tab 7:  Infrastructure & System Administration........... Pg. 45-47

 Tab 8:  Reporting & Monitoring ................................... Pg. 48-51

 Tab 9:  Pricing/Cost Proposal ..................................... Pg. 52-60

 Tab 10:  References ......................................................... Pg. 61

 Tab 11:  Exceptions ..................................................  ....... Pg. 62

 Tab 12: Assumptions ........................................................ Pg. 63

 Tab 13: Appendices ................................................. Pg. 64-121

Page 1 of 121



Tab 1 - Introduction and Signed Forms
A. Cover Letter (Signed)
B. Proposal Signature Sheet (Attachment A)
C. Business Classification Form (Attachment B)
D. Virginia State Corporation Commission Registration Information (Attachment

C)
E. Proprietary/Confidential Information (Attachment D)
F. Direct Contact with Students (Attachment F)

Page 2 of 121



COVER LETTER
April 26, 2021

Henrico County Public Schools
Attn: Eileen M. Falcone
8600 Staples Mill Road
Henrico, VA 23273-0775

RE:  RFP No. 21-2142-3EMF “Digital Mathematics (PreK-12) Curriculum for Tier 1, Tier
II, and Tier III for Henrico County Public Schools’

Dear Ms. Falcone,

MIND Research Institute is pleased to provide this proposal in response to Henrico County
Public Schools’ request for a digital math curriculum. We look forward to supporting the
goal of adding productive, engaged academic instruction, through our innovative visual
mathematics pedagogy and program offerings for teachers and students. We have read the
solicitation in detail, and our proposal outlines our compliance with the intent, spirit, and
letter of the solicitation. We are committed to providing the goods and services described
in this solicitation.

Our guiding principle in preparing this proposal has been to ensure the quality and
effectiveness of the learning environments for teachers and students. In addition we are
supplying a clear training and implementation model, and ongoing guidance and support.
All are designed for scalability and sustainability. We view this proposal as an opportunity
to help retool math instruction and learning via our proven visual approach, elevating how
teachers teach and students learn math to a new higher level.

We are pleased to offer the Henrico County Public Schools our supplemental digital
mathematics curriculum ST Math K8.

ST Math has been designed from its inception in 1998 to use visual representations which
met the learning goals of the subsequently-published Common Core Standards for
Mathematical Practice, including:

·        Using concrete objects or pictures to help conceptualize a problem
·        Seeing mathematics as sensible
·        Diagrams of important features and relationships
·        Create a coherent representation of a problem
·        Plan a solution pathway
·        Develop a belief in diligence

Page 3 of 121
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ATTACHMENT A 

PROPOSAL SIGNATURE SHEET 

My signature certifies that the proposal as submitted complies with all requirements specified in 
this Request for Proposal (“RFP”) No. 21-2142—3EMF Mathematics (PreK-12) Curriculum Tier I, 
Tier II and Tier III.  

My signature also certifies that by submitting a proposal in response to this RFP, the Offeror 
represents that in the preparation and submission of this proposal, the Offeror did not, either 
directly or indirectly, enter into any combination or arrangement with any person or business entity, 
or enter into any agreement, participate in any collusion, or otherwise take any action in the 
restraining of free, competitive bidding in violation of the Sherman Act (15 U.S.C. Section 1) or 
Sections 59.1-9.1 through 59.1-9.17 or Sections 59.1-68.6 through 59.1-68.8 of the Code of 
Virginia. 

I hereby certify that I am authorized to sign as a legal representative for the business entity 
submitting this proposal. 

LEGAL NAME OF OFFEROR (DO NOT USE TRADE NAME): 

ADDRESS: 

FEDERAL ID NO: 

SIGNATURE: 

NAME OF PERSON SIGNING (PRINT): 

TITLE: 

TELEPHONE: 

FAX: 

EMAIL ADDRESS: 

DATE: 

MIND Research Institute

5281 California Avenue, Suite 300

Irvine, CA 92617

33-0798804

Josephine Garrett

Chief Financial Officer

(949) 345-8700

(866) 569-7014

kapplegate@mindresearch.org

April 26, 2021
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ATTACHMENT B 
BUSINESS CATEGORY CLASSIFICATION FORM 

Company Legal Name:  

This form completed by: Signature:________________________________  Title:__________________  

Date:__________________________ 

PLEASE SPECIFY YOUR BUSINESS CATEGORY BY CHECKING THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES) 

BELOW. 

(Check all that apply.) 
SUPPLIER REGISTRATION – The County of 

Henrico encourages all suppliers interested in 

doing business with the County to register with 

eVA, the Commonwealth of Virginia’s electronic 

procurement portal, http://eva.virginia.gov. 

eVA Registered?  Yes   No 

  SMALL BUSINESS 

  WOMEN-OWNED BUSINESS 

  MINORITY-OWNED BUSINESS 

  SERVICE-DISABLED VETERAN 

  EMPLOYMENT SERVICES ORGANIZATION 

  NON-SWaM (Not Small, Women-owned or Minority-owned) 

If certified by the Virginia Minority Business Enterprises (DMBE), provide DMBE certification number and expiration date. 

 NUMBER          DATE 

DEFINITIONS 

For the purpose of determining the appropriate business category, the following definitions apply: 

"Small business" means a business, independently owned and controlled by one or more individuals who are U.S. citizens or legal resident aliens, and together with affiliates, 
has 250 or fewer employees, or annual gross receipts of $10 million or less averaged over the previous three years. One or more of the individual owners shall control both the 
management and daily business operations of the small business.  

"Women-owned business" means a business that is at least 51 percent owned by one or more women who are U.S. citizens or legal resident aliens, or in the case of a 
corporation, partnership, or limited liability company or other entity, at least 51 percent of the equity ownership interest is owned by one or more women who are U.S. citizens 
or legal resident aliens, and both the management and daily business operations are controlled by one or more women. 

"Minority-owned business" means a business that is at least 51 percent owned by one or more minority individuals who are U.S. citizens or legal resident aliens, or in the case 
of a corporation, partnership, or limited liability company or other entity, at least 51 percent of the equity ownership interest in the corporation, partnership, or limited liability 
company or other entity is owned by one or more minority individuals who are U.S. citizens or legal resident aliens, and both the management and daily business operations are 
controlled by one or more minority individuals.  

"Minority individual" means an individual who is a citizen of the United States or a legal resident alien and who satisfies one or more of the following definitions: 

1. "African American" means a person having origins in any of the original peoples of Africa and who is regarded as such by the community of which this person claims 
to be a part.  

2. "Asian American" means a person having origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, the Indian subcontinent, or the Pacific Islands,
including but not limited to Japan, China, Vietnam, Samoa, Laos, Cambodia, Taiwan, Northern Mariana Islands, the Philippines, a U.S. territory of the Pacific, India, 
Pakistan, Bangladesh, or Sri Lanka and who is regarded as such by the community of which this person claims to be a part.  

3. "Hispanic American" means a person having origins in any of the Spanish-speaking peoples of Mexico, South or Central America, or the Caribbean Islands or other 
Spanish or Portuguese cultures and who is regarded as such by the community of which this person claims to be a part. 

4. "Native American" means a person having origins in any of the original peoples of North America and who is regarded as such by the community of which this person 
claims to be a part or who is recognized by a tribal organization.  

"Service disabled veteran business" means a business that is at least 51 percent owned by one or more service disabled veterans or, in the case of a corporation, partnership, 
or limited liability company or other entity, at least 51 percent of the equity ownership interest in the corporation, partnership, or limited liability company or other entity is 
owned by one or more individuals who are service disabled veterans and both the management and daily business operations are controlled by one or more individuals who are 
service disabled veterans.  

"Service disabled veteran" means a veteran who (i) served on active duty in the United States military ground, naval, or air service, (ii) was discharged or released under 
conditions other than dishonorable, and (iii) has a service-connected disability rating fixed by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs.  

“Employment services organization” means an organization that provides community-based employment services to individuals with disabilities that is an approved 
Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities (CARF) accredited vendor of the Department of Aging and Rehabilitative Services. 

MIND Research Institute

Josephine Garrett

x

April 26, 2021
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ATTACHMENT C  
Virginia State Corporation Commission (SCC) 

Registration Information 

The Offeror: 

 is a corporation or other business entity with the following SCC identification number: 

________________________________ -OR- 

 

 is not a corporation, limited liability company, limited partnership, registered limited liability 

partnership, or business trust -OR- 

 

 is an out-of-state business entity that does not regularly and continuously maintain as part of 

its ordinary and customary business any employees, agents, offices, facilities, or inventories in 

Virginia (not counting any employees or agents in Virginia who merely solicit orders that require 

acceptance outside Virginia before they become contracts, and not counting any incidental 

presence of the Bidder in Virginia that is needed in order to assemble, maintain, and repair 

goods in accordance with the contracts by which such goods were sold and shipped into 

Virginia from Bidder’s out-of-state location) -OR- 

 

 is an out-of-state business entity that is including with this bid/proposal an opinion of legal 

counsel which accurately and completely discloses the undersigned Bidder’s current contracts 

with Virginia and describes why those contracts do not constitute the transaction of business in 

Virginia within the meaning of §13.1-757 or other similar provisions in Titles 13.1 or 50 of the 

Code of Virginia. 

Please check the following box if you have not checked any of the foregoing options but 

currently have pending before the SCC an application for authority to transact business in the 

Commonwealth of Virginia and wish to be considered for a waiver to allow you to submit the 

SCC identification number after the due date for bids: 

x
F2026997

MIND Research Institute
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ATTACHMENT D 
PROPRIETARY/CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION IDENTIFICATION 

NAME OF OFFEROR: ______________________________ 

Trade secrets or proprietary information submitted by an Offeror shall not be subject to public 

disclosure under the Virginia Freedom of Information Act; however, the Offeror must invoke the 

protections of Va. Code § 2.2-4342(F) in writing, either before or at the time the data or other 

materials are submitted. The Offeror must specifically identify the data or materials to be protected 

including the section(s) of the proposal in which it is contained and the pages numbers, and state 

the reasons why protection is necessary. A summary of trade secrets and proprietary information 

submitted shall be submitted on this form. The proprietary or trade secret material submitted must 

be identified by some distinct method such as highlighting or underlining and must indicate only 

the specific words, figures, or paragraphs that constitute trade secret or proprietary 

information. Va. Code § 2.2-4342(F) prohibits an Offeror from classifying an entire proposal, any 

portion of a proposal that does not contain trade secrets or proprietary information, line item 

prices, or total proposal prices as proprietary or trade secrets.  If, after being given reasonable 

time, the Offeror refuses to withdraw such classification(s), the proposal will be rejected. 

SECTION/TITLE PAGE 

NUMBER(S) 

REASON(S) FOR WITHHOLDING FROM 

DISCLOSURE 

MIND Research Institute

N/A    N/A     N/A
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ATTACHMENT F 
DIRECT CONTACT WITH STUDENTS 

Name of Bidder: __________________________________ 

Pursuant to Va. Code § 22.1-296.1, as a condition of awarding a contract for the provision of 
services that require the contractor or employees of the contractor to have direct contact with 
students on school property during regular school hours or during school-sponsored activities, 
the contractor shall provide certification of whether any individual who will provide such services 
has been convicted of any violent felony set forth in the definition of barrier crime in subsection A 
of Va. Code § 19.2-392.02; any offense involving the sexual molestation, physical or sexual 
abuse, or rape of a child; or any crime of moral turpitude. 

Any individual making a materially false statement regarding any such offense is guilty of a Class 
1 misdemeanor and, upon conviction, the fact of such conviction is grounds for the revocation of 
the contract to provide such services and, when relevant, the revocation of any license required 
to provide such services. 

As part of this submission, I certify the following: 

□ None of the individuals who will be providing services that require direct contact
with students on school property during regular school hours or during school-
sponsored activities have been convicted of a violent felony set forth in the
definition of “barrier crime” in Va. Code § 19.2-392.02(A); an offense involving
the sexual molestation, physical or sexual abuse, or rape of a child;

And (select one of the following) 

□ None of the individuals who will be providing services that require
direct contact with students on school property during regular school
hours or during school-sponsored activities have been convicted of
any felony or any crime of moral turpitude.

or 

□ One or more individuals who will be providing services that require
direct contact with students on school property during regular school
hours or during school-sponsored activities has been convicted of a
felony or crime of moral turpitude that is not set forth in the definition
of “barrier crime” in Va. Code § 19.2-392.02(A) and does not involve the
sexual molestation, physical or sexual abuse, or rape of a child. (In the
case of a felony conviction meeting these criteria, the contractor must
submit evidence that the Governor has restored the individual’s civil
rights.).

_______________________________________  

Signature of Authorized Representative  

_______________________________________  

Printed Name of Authorized Representative 

_______________________________________ 

Printed Name of Vendor  

MIND Research Institute

Josephine Garrett, CFO

MIND Research Institute

x
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Tab 2 - Statement of the Scope
ST Math was designed as a core curriculum supplement and meets Virginia Standards of
Learning (SOL) for Mathematics and Virginia Department of Education 2016 Standards in
both content and intent, ensuring that all students have access to powerful learning
opportunities organized for focus, coherence and rigor. Our design process embeds not
only the content standards, but also the standards for mathematical practice throughout
the curriculum.

ST Math adheres to the criteria for materials and tools aligned to the standards identified in
the K-8 Publishers’ Criteria for the Common Core State Standards for Mathematics.  Focus,
coherence and rigor are evident throughout the program.

ST Math engages all students in the strategic and creative thinking that guides the new
Virginia Standards of Learning in Mathematics. Through visual and kinesthetic online
manipulative puzzles, organized into mastery-based objectives, ST Math provides multiple
rich, interactive representations for teachers and students to experience all of the major
areas of emphasis covered by the Virginia SOLs.

In each grade level, approximately three-quarters of the content and time spent is on the
major work of the grade level.  The progression documents informed content development
and articulation among grade level syllabi assuring coherence within and across grades.
The intentional progressions found in ST Math build and deepen conceptual understanding
balanced with fluency of procedures and skills.

ST Math also integrates the Standards for Mathematical Practice into the content, enabling
students to develop long-term problem-solving skills and a deep conceptual understanding
of mathematics with strong connections between concepts and across grades. Unlike any
other instructional software, ST Math engages students in learning through problem
solving. Students are challenged with 50 or more complex problems during a single
session, building mastery through the development of strategic thinking, conceptual
understanding, perseverance and practice.

ST Math content objectives are designed around learning paths that begin with basic
concepts but end in rigorous applications where students use abstract, quantitative, and
creative reasoning to solve non-routine problems. Students gain direct access to SOL
content and practice standards when they use ST Math.

All ST Math programs provide instructional approaches based upon equity – all students,
regardless of their diverse backgrounds or challenges, are provided with access and
opportunity to learn.
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MIND Research Institute’s ST Math instructional software and accompanying professional
development have been created with the objective to help all students increase math
proficiency regardless of their background or previously determined ability.  The visual,
conceptual problem solving approach found within the ST Math content has been proven,
through ongoing data analysis, to aid in the increase of performance for all students,
including ELL, Special Education, and Gifted and Talented.

Transforming student outcomes will require more than digitized conventional approaches
(i.e., problem sets, lectures, or textbooks). MIND Research Institute’s Spatial Temporal (ST)
approach goes beyond conventional examples, memorization, and practice, turning math
into an interactive visualization with many clear advantages for both the student and
teacher. MIND’s early research showed that students have a universal, trainable, and
largely untapped ability to do visual reasoning. So, MIND’s ST Math program harnesses
students’ visual reasoning capabilities through presenting math concepts and procedures
to students visually as interactive puzzles, initially avoiding abstractions like math symbols
and math vocabulary words.

ST Math’s visual approach has many advantages that support intervention including:

● Simplicity: mathematical problem situations are presented through a visual model
that focuses on the mathematics. The real-time informative feedback provides a
visual proof of student strategies that allow them to understand the mathematics
without symbolic notation. The use of a visual model allows students regardless of
whether or not they are working on grade level to access the same challenging
material as their classmates.

● Encourages Conceptual Learning: The use of a visual model along with the
real-time informative feedback given the puzzles require the student to use their
reasoning skills. This helps them move beyond rote use of abstract procedures to
solving problems with conceptual understanding. This helps all students make
meaning of the mathematics they are learning. In addition, ST Math has optional
objectives that can be assigned to support students with intervention around below
grade level content.

● Multiple Representations: mathematics can be represented visually using a variety
of different models. ST Math presents concepts in multiple ways to build student
understanding. For example, fractions can be represented in an area model or on a
number line. The use of a visual model helps support student understanding of the
complexity of mathematical concepts. In keeping with the fractions example, the
visual model can help show fractions as a unit of measure, a number on a number
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line, part of a set, as quotients, as operators, and as a ratio. The use of multiple
representations enhances the depth of understanding for concepts and make big
ideas accessible to students.

● Real-time Informative Feedback: the visuals are dynamic and interactive. They
animate to show “how” the math works, e.g. a place value animation showing 1 in the
10’s place dividing into 10 1’s. This visual animation is used to maximize feedback to
students. When they pose a solution, the software animates the solution visually,
informing why it was right, or why it was wrong.

● English Learners: because the vocabulary of mathematics is, at first, intentionally
avoided, there is no language proficiency, or even English language knowledge at all,
required for a student to productively engage with the program and start
understanding and solving math problems.

All students use the on-screen visuals in the ST Math game to solve complex math
problems.  On occasion, some students might need materials outside the games to
enhance their learning.  By having access to certain manipulatives (base ten blocks,
counters, number lines, grid paper, note pad, etc.) students can choose the tools they need
to support their visualization process.

ST Math is not only providing students the basis of a strong math foundation and deep
conceptual understanding, but it is also facilitating the non-cognitive skills necessary for
their success in the 21st century workforce. Recent surveys indicate that today’s employers
are looking for candidates that have the ability to problem-solve, work collaboratively, and
develop creative solutions. ST Math actively engages youth in math and helps students
discover the importance of teamwork, creative problem-solving, the joy of perseverance,
and the success of productive struggle.  Through a ‘learning by doing’ rather than ‘teaching
by telling approach,’ ST Math is preparing students for today’s technological society,
including key industries of agriculture, advanced manufacturing, information technology,
and health.

MIND’s uniquely visual and proven ST Math education program is able to relate students’
learning to the world of work by:

● Advancing a new generation of 21st century critical thinkers and creative problem
solvers;

● Strengthening the path for youth towards STEM careers for a better and diversified
workforce;

● Promoting cultural change to shift perceptions around math from being scary and
frustrating to exciting and essential;
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● Improving math performances and experiences for today’s students and tomorrow’s
employees;

● Reinforcing the importance of math skills by making connections to the real-world;
and

● Empowering students to become future innovators, addressing key issues facing
our society.

There are two basic ways that students receive content in ST Math, via the individualized
learning paths created by students’ interactions during gameplay, and through teachers’
ability to assign and reorder content in real-time.

Individualized Learning Paths (“Journey”):
● Games are comprised of multiple levels of scaffolded difficulty.
● “Puzzle Factories” randomly generate puzzles within specific parameters at each

level, so students receive additional content through multiple plays on a single level.
● Students only advance to the next level when they demonstrate mastery with the

previous level.
● Every student takes their own path through the curriculum, and students receive

varying amounts of interactive content at each level of every game.
● Students who finish their Journey before the end of the school year will reach Bonus

Objectives which provide additional problem solving and Spatial Temporal
Reasoning development.

Teacher Assigned Content (“Assignments):
● Teachers can reorder content for a class or a sub-group at any time and changes are

pushed out to students immediately.
● Teachers can use information in the Standards Report, Student Detail Report,

and/or Progress Report to inform grouping of students and modify their curriculum
sequences as needed.

● Content assigned via the Assignments feature in ST Math can be from any grade
level.

Foundational / Below Grade Level Content:
● ST Math Grade Levels contain Optional Objectives, which are groups of games which

teach a particular content area. The Objectives contain both on grade level and
foundational skills and concepts that students need to build robust, interconnected
frameworks of mathematical knowledge.

● Entire foundational (as well as beyond grade level) Objectives are available for
teachers to assign from the using the “Assignments” feature at each grade level.

● For students that need access to entire previous grade levels of content, they can be
assigned separately to a curriculum based on lower grade level standards.
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Approach & Instructional Design
ST Math provides an effective, research-based approach for both prevention (Tier 1) and
intervention (Tiers 2 and 3). Blending individualized, 1:1 student learning in the uniquely
accessible digital content with conventional teacher-facilitated classroom instruction, ST
Math engages students at any level of math or language proficiency into a progression of
math understanding.

All students use the on-screen visuals in ST Math to solve complex math problems.  On
occasion, some students might need materials outside the games to enhance their
learning.  By having access to certain manipulatives (base ten blocks, counters, number
lines, grid paper, note pads, etc.) students can choose the tools they need to support their
visualization process.

For students who do not use ST Math in Tier 1, the program can be introduced at Tier 2 and
is especially effective in unlocking unrealized learning potential.  In addition to helping
general students who are not performing at their academic potential, the program
supports students who have difficulty with language, or who have mild autism, dyslexia or
other special needs.

As a neuroscience organization, we are research-driven and focused on designing
educational experiences for students that meet their individual needs. The ST Math
program itself is intentionally designed based on the neuroscience of how students learn.
There are five basic components that are part of the intentional design of the ST Math
program that directly speaks to the opportunities for self-directed learning.

The first component is the visual learning design of the program. As students engage in ST
Math they are learning through various visual models. The use of a visual model allows all
students to have access to mathematics in the puzzles. This idea is continued in the digital
and printable resources that accompany the program. Game mats (printed visual of the
puzzle for students to create models) and various graphic organizers help support students
in thinking about their thinking around the mathematics in the puzzle. These resources
allow them to monitor their mistakes, make corrections, and identify strategies that work.

The second component is the real-time informative feedback that is built into the game
design. Each choice a student makes has a specific piece of feedback that has been coded
into the program. This means that when they try a strategy the feedback they receive is
specifically related to the strategy that they used. This feedback provides them with
additional information showing them why their solution was correct or incorrect. Students
can use this feedback to make adjustments in the way they are thinking about the puzzle
and try again. It teaches them that mistakes are learning opportunities. This is a lesson that
will help them beyond their work in the ST Math program. This idea is again prevalent in
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the digital and printable resources available for students and teachers. The materials
include journals and graphic organizers with reflective questions that encourage students
to think about what they learned from the feedback and how that information can be used
to create a new strategy.

The third and fourth components are conceptual understanding and learning journeys. The
visual model helps students understand mathematical ideas, make connections between
them, and transfer that learning to other problems. The learning journeys are carefully
structured sequences of the math content that move from the visual to the symbolic. Each
of these components supports students in becoming self-directed learners. They are able
to take the information they are learning, apply it in a way that makes sense, and
progressively build their understanding. Again, there are digital and printable resources
that students can use to record what they are learning, examine their thinking, and make
connections to other concepts.

Finally, the fifth component is intrinsically-motivating problem-solving. As students play the
games, they are building perseverance, learning from their mistakes, and experiencing
success when solving challenging problems. The design of the ST Math program puts
students in the driver’s seat of their learning and helps them understand that mathematics
is a subject that is accessible to them.

The game arena design of the ST Math games, provides experiences through multiple
grade levels with similar visual models. Our mathematicians and game designers created
ST Math learning Journeys by mapping the math schemas leading up to the topic. Then,
they identified all the places students would use that content knowledge in future levels of
mathematics. This learning progression allows us to ensure our games are always
mathematically honest. That means we always have the big picture in mind so students
don't learn rules that stop working when they reach higher levels of mathematics.

Using similar visual models across the grade levels, builds students’ conceptual
understanding as they progress from skip counting to repeated addition to multiplication.
As students progress, they are using increasingly sophisticated strategies while building
their understanding of the concepts. Designing our games this way allows students to
connect important concepts that aid in developing computational fluency. Students explore
number relationships, build an understanding of the meaning of operations, and apply
what they are learning about various math concepts through game play.

In addition, the visual models and real-time informative feedback within the ST Math
program help students “see” the mathematics that is occurring. Students build an
understanding of the relationship between numbers and operations before the symbolic
notation is introduced. Once the symbolic notation is introduced students are able to think
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beyond “doing” an operation with numbers, to understanding the mathematics. This builds
flexible thinking and efficiency around numbers and further supports the development of
computational fluency.

ST Math delivers hundreds of separate interactive simulations, games, animations and
visual proofs.  Below is an example of how ST Math demonstrates mathematics concepts
visually and then moves into symbolic representations of the concept as the student
progresses through the program and gains mastery.

Game:  Hungry Monsters

In this unit, students begin
with a set of problems like
this one. They must
determine how many
purple monsters will eat
the food, given the unit rate
(located in the top left
corner of the screen).
Notice the ratio notation, 1
monster : 2 apples. As
always, in ST Math, if a
student inputs an incorrect
answer, the program will
show them the
mathematical consequence
of their choice, which helps
them to adjust their
thinking. Please note, this
adaptive feedback is
impossible to showcase
adequately in written
explanation. In order to get
this problem correct, the
student must recognize
that 3 monsters will eat 6
apples, if each monster
eats 2.
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The next set of problems
changes the ratio notation
(3/1), while keeping the input
the same. The student must
again figure out how many
monsters will eat the food,
given the rate. This helps
students understand different
symbolic ratio notations while
further developing conceptual
proportional reasoning. It’s
important to note that at
every level of ST Math,
students work at their own
pace to solve multiple,
randomly generated puzzles.
In order to move to the next
level, students must first show
mastery of the content they
are on.

Eventually students will see
problems such as this, which
introduce the academic
language commonly used for
rates/ratios. Additionally,
notice how the input of the
problem has changed.
Instead of figuring out how
many monsters will eat a
certain amount of food,
students must determine
how much food is needed to
feed three monsters. This is a
small, yet powerful change
that is designed to stretch
and grow student thinking.
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This problem introduces
new language and also
changes the input. With
each randomly generated
problem, students must
think flexibly and creatively
to determine what to do.
Since there are no written
instructions, they are
encouraged to immediately
start clicking around and
trying things. Students
must rely on the
immediate feedback to
help them figure out what
to do.

Here, the unit introduces one
more ratio term (per). These
problems specifically address
statements in the GIMET-QR
that explain the importance
of students understanding
the meaning behind ratio
terms such as “for every”,
“per”, and “for each” as this is
foundational for proportional
reasoning in future content.
Additionally, notice how the
food has changed to circular
“pies”, which will eventually
be divided into fractional
pieces as the problems
increase in rigor.
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In the next section of this
unit, students will see a set
of problems like this one,
where the ratio is no longer
the unit rate and the answer
requires dividing the food
into equal parts. Note, this
problem is particularly
abstract and challenging. “If
4 monsters eat 5 pies, how
many pies will two monsters
eat.” However, the student
experience has been well
scaffolded to this point to
allow all students agency
and autonomy over their
learning, regardless of
English proficiency. Stu-
dents will spend ample time
interacting with problems
like this before the program
moves on to making new
connections in the next
section.

Now students will apply their
conceptual understanding of
rates and proportions to
representing them with
tables. In this example, the
student must fill in two
missing quantities in the
table. The first unknown is
the number of pies that 6
monsters will eat. The second
unknown is the number of
monsters that will eat 2 pies.
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The subsequent snapshots
show the animated feedback
that will prove the student
correct with the given inputs.

This feedback trains the
student to conceptually
process abstract
proportional concepts.
Students see exactly how
each value in the table
relates to the underlying
unit rate and thus the value
of using tables to organize
proportional relationships.

The next set of problems will
contain more unknowns
within the table and more
complex ratios.
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After each input, the students
see how the unit rate is used
to calculate all values in the
table. In this snap- shot, we
see how 6 monsters get
equal shares of 8 pies. Note
the vast number of
mathematical connections
the student is able to make
through these interactive,
visual problems.

Once students have had
ample practice working with
rates and tables, they will
learn how this same concept
extends to notation with
ordered pairs on a coordinate
plane. In this problem the
student must click and drag
the blue dots to the correct
location on the graph, given
the rate in the top left. These
activities directly support
suggestions from the
GIMET-QR that state students
should find missing values in
tables, and plot pairs of values
on coordinate planes
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This snapshot shows the
animated feedback for the
problem above that proves 3
monsters eat 6 straw- berries
if the unit rate is 2 per
monster. Again, the program
points to the conceptual
foundation of proportional
reasoning and linear
functions.

At the end of this problem
sequence, students must
generate a rule, given specific
points on a coordinate plane.
Note how the intentional
learning Journey up to this
point has equipped the
student to solve this problem
without memorizing any
algorithm or formula. Instead
the student has the
conceptual understanding
necessary to find the answer.
All students, regardless of
English proficiency, can access
this rigorous task and the
possibilities of how they might
problem solve are endless.
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Finally, students will find
rates given a set of values in
a table.
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Tab 3 - Offeror Qualifications, Exceptions,
Resumes and Financial Capacity
MIND Research Institute is a nonprofit, social impact organization.  Our mission is to
ensure all students are mathematically equipped to solve the world’s most challenging
problems.  We are dedicated to transforming math education so that learners of all
backgrounds and abilities are empowered to deeply understand math.

MIND was founded in 1998 by three University of California researchers united behind a
simple yet innovative idea:  teaching math the way children learn - visually and
experientially. These researchers came together to apply neuroscience findings indicating
that children interacting with software games using visual, language-independent
animation to learn math concepts showed significant improvement in their ability to
conduct spatial-temporal reasoning, or the ability to manipulate objects in space and time.
This ability to hold visual representations in the mind and predict their evolution lies at the
core of innovative thinking and sophisticated problem solving. These results prompted the
scientists to found MIND Research, a social benefit organization, and further develop the
visual learning-based Spatial-Temporal (ST) Math® software for use in K-12 schools. Using
interactive visual representations of mathematical concepts, ST Math improves
spatial-temporal reasoning and math proficiency.

Our first randomized pilot study of the visually-based ST Math in a South Central Los
Angeles elementary school confirmed the significant impact of the software on student
math proficiency. Participating students scored in the 65th percentile on the Stanford 9
Math Test (used in California prior to the California Standards Test). Non-participants at the
same school scored in the 36th percentile. The impact of the ST Math curricula from
kindergarten through fifth grade on student math achievement has been proven in
numerous analyses over the years. Schools using ST Math consistently experience double
to almost triple the growth in percentage of students testing proficient or better on state
standardized math tests, when compared to similar schools not using the program.

MIND Research’s visual approach to teaching math has proven successful for a diverse
range of students from many cultural and socioeconomic backgrounds and is particularly
ideal for English Language Learners and students with learning disabilities.

In the words of the late Dr. Gordon Shaw, MIND Research Institute co-founder and seminal
researcher of spatial-temporal reasoning, “All kids are smarter than we think. We just need
to give them the opportunity to develop their abilities.” MIND remains committed to
creating this reality. To that end, our work is guided by the following values:
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● Developing problem-solving skills that include multi-step reasoning, creativity,
persistence and real-world applications of those skills.

● Encouraging a life-long love of learning through hands-on experiences that build
deep conceptual understanding.

● Fostering and growing talented, diverse people who can collaborate to solve the
world’s toughest problems.

In 2013, the CEO-led Business Roundtable (BRT) recognized ST Math for having “strong
potential for helping prepare more U.S. K-12 students for college and the workforce.” ST
Math was the only one of the five programs chosen focusing solely on mathematics. A
complementary but separate initiative conducted by Change the Equation (CTEq) identified
ST Math as one of four programs that met their standard of high-quality, immediately
scalable programs. ST Math is the only program on both the BRT and CTEq’s short lists of
recognized programs. Additionally, in early 2014, MIND Research was named a partner
organization for the national multi-sector network, 100Kin10.

In 2014, MIND Research launched the MathMINDs Initiative to bring math to life through
family-friendly events, applied learning opportunities, student-centered activities and
community events. engagement events.

MIND Research Institute has an operational model designed to obtain effective student
outcomes at scale. MIND currently has over 150 employees, including outside (local)
support personnel who serve their local districts and schools. MIND Research’s patented
(https://www.mindresearch.org/patents) programs currently reach more than 1,340,000
students and 74,000 teachers in over 5,500 schools in 50 states.  In the past 3 years, MIND
has exceeded $20M in earned income from sales of the ST Math program family  (please
see three years of audited financial statements in the Appendices section of this response)
and accompanying professional development as. well as from donations from our
social-impact partners.

Recent Awards and Recognition
● 2020 SIIA CODiE Finalist

○ Best Game-Based Curriculum Solution
● 2019 SIIA CODiE Winner

○ Best Overall Education Technology Solution
○ Best Mathematics Instructional Solution for Grades PreK-8

● 2018 SIIA CODiE Winner
○ Best Game-Based Curriculum Solution

● The Tech Edvocate Awards 2020 Finalist
○ Best Math App or Tool

● 2020 Inc. Best Workplaces
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○ Best Workplaces of 2020 (MIND Research Institute)
● The EdTech Cool Tool Awards 2020 & 2019 Finalist

○ Math Solution
○ Games and Learning/Simulation Solution

● The Journal Readers’ Choice Awards 2018
○ Best Math Program (Silver)

Key Personnel
MIND Research Institute has an operational model designed to ensure the necessary
resources are available to obtain effective student outcomes at scale for all of MIND’s
partner schools and districts. MIND currently has over 150 employees, including outside
(local) support personnel who serve their local districts and schools.

The creator of ST Math, Co-Founder, Chief Technology Officer and Senior Scientist,
Matthew Peterson, Ph.D., leads a team in developing math learning environments that
initially convey sophisticated concepts visually, rather than verbally, enabling students to
gain a deep conceptual understanding of mathematics regardless of language proficiency.

Matthew, who as a child struggled with traditional language-based instruction due to
dyslexia, created MIND’s ST Math® software to enable students to learn math through his
unique non-language-based visual approach. The revolutionary ST Math software has
proven to raise students’ math scores on standardized tests and currently reaches over half
a million students.

Matthew has spoken at numerous national and international math and education
conferences, before the National Mathematics Advisory Panel, and recently was featured at
TEDx Orange Coast. After completing his undergraduate degrees in biology, electrical
engineering and Chinese language and literature from UC Irvine, he went on to obtain his
Ph.D. in visual neuroscience from UC Berkeley.

Brett Woudenberg joined MIND Research Institute in August 2016 as its Chief Executive
Officer.  He oversees core operations of the organization, including Education
Partnerships, Social Impact Development, Outreach and Engagement, Program
Implementation, Talent Development, and Finance. Prior to joining MIND Research
Institute, Brett served as COO of Sapling Learning and later the STEM Group at Macmillan
Learning, a top publisher with products serving secondary and post-secondary education
markets.  He was also COO at national online learning platform provider Gaggle, and
President and CEO at Trailblazer Learning, an online professional development solution for
K-12 Schools. Mr. Woudenberg has extensive experience building and executing growth
strategies for cloud-based learning environments and digital content projects in the
Education Marketplace.  Brett holds a Bachelors of Business Administration in Finance from
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Grand Valley State University’s Seidman School of Business and an MBA from University of
Massachusetts at Amherst’s Isenberg School of Management.

Reporting to the Chief Executive Officer is the Vice President of Education Success,
Dorene Uhrich.  Dorene joined MIND in 2009 and has worked on many teams across the
organization in her time at MIND.  As Vice President of Education Success, she oversees the
nationwide team that implements, trains and supports educators implementing MIND
programs. Her team ensures student success through best practice adoptions that feature
innovative professional development for teachers, principals and district leaders. In her
career, Dorene has held many different positions in the education industry, including work
at Imagine Learning, California State University’s Learning Alliance, Westminster School
District, and the National Notary Association.  She earned her Master of Education in
Education and Human Resource Studies with a Specialization in Adult Education and
Training from Colorado State University and her Bachelor's and Multiple Subject Teaching
Credential at California State University Long Beach. Dorene and her team are passionate
about innovating math education and inspiring educators to develop our future
generations to love and excel in math.

Vice President of Content Creation, Nigel Nisbet, drives content research and
development at the MIND Research Institute, creating interactive visual games to teach
mathematics, and innovative technology-enhanced ways to support teachers in engaging
students to do creative problem solving with rich mathematical tasks. In addition, Nigel
speaks regularly on behalf of MIND at educational conferences, symposiums and other
mathematical gatherings.  As a former LAUSD High School Math Teacher, and Central Math
Expert, Nigel has extensive experience designing and implementing conceptual
mathematics tasks, and designing, delivering, and managing Professional Development
programs at scale.

Brandon Smith, Product Director, Mathematics, at MIND, focuses on creating innovative
learning solutions that deepen one's understanding of math and that challenge paradigms
about "what math is". His work on ST Math spans several years and across all grade
offerings; his contributions push the boundaries of visual learning. Using visual models of
math, he sequences learning to "tell a story at the most human level - visual". Much of his
work focuses on creating neuroscience-based math experiences that have minimal barriers
to entry and that also meaningfully engage the user in learning. By leveraging
learning-by-doing, he reaches beyond language to get at the heart of math and its
principles (CCSMP). He recently spoke at the California Association for Bilingual Education
2017 Annual Conference to a packed, standing-room-only, house about how to get all
students engaged in mathematics.  Mr. Smith has two master's degrees in mathematics
and over 10 years of classroom experience.
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Twana Young, Vice President of Curriculum and Instruction, leads the overall vision,
strategy, and execution for curriculum materials, resources and professional learning
across MIND’s suite of products. Twana brings over 20 years of experience in education.
She is a former Curriculum Director for Columbus City Schools and has worked at the local,
state and national level on Common Core State Standards for Mathematics, assessments
for the State of Ohio, PARCC assessment leadership group and as well as served on the
Math Advisory team for the Council of Great City Schools. She has handled small and large
scale implementations. She has trained all over the country and has presented at
numerous state and national conferences. Twana holds a Master of Education
Administration from Ashland University and a Bachelor of Arts in Elementary Education
from Nicholls State University.

Reporting to the Vice President of Education Success is Brienne Albert, the Director of
District Success, whose primary responsibility at MIND is promoting excellence in our
ability to drive successful implementations of ST Math. To ensure customer success, her
team of Education Success Managers build strong partnerships with district and school
leaders and advise them in goal setting and seamlessly integrating ST Math into their
culture. By leveraging data, the Education Success Managers guide their districts’
implementations to reach their desired goals and improve student outcomes. Brienne has
worked at MIND for over nine years with experience as a Senior Curriculum Specialist on
the Sales Enablement team, Staff Development Specialist, and Education Success Manager.
Prior to MIND, Brienne shared her passion for education with students in the classroom.
She has a Bachelor of Science degree in Psychology with a minor in Elementary Education,
and Master of Education in Curriculum and Instruction.

The designated Education Success Manager for Henrico County Public Schools will be
Teryl Magee. Teryl will collaborate with district and site administrators to create a
customized professional development and support plan to ensure the success of ST Math.
While PD is delivered by a Professional Learning Specialist, Teryl will provide the on-going
monitoring and support at each Henrico County Public Schools site. Ms. Magee will
proactively analyze school data, send timely reports and updates, and meet with
administrators to review their goals and implementation.

Jim Kirchner, Senior Vice President of Education Partnerships, is responsible for
leading a nationwide team of Education Partnerships Managers in expanding the reach of
ST Math to school districts across the country.  He brings over 20 years of experience in the
education technology industry and has been founder and CEO of several companies, as
well as Senior Vice President of Sales at Amplify. He holds a Bachelor of Science in
Business and Managerial Economics from North Carolina State University and served in the
United States Marine Corps.
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Karen Talbert, Regional Vice President, Education Partnerships, brings over 20 year of
experience in the Education industry.  She recently joined the MIND team to lead the
eastern region of Education Partnerships. Before joining the MIND team,  Karen was VP of
Sales and Marketing with Altitude Learning focusing on supporting districts that were
making the shift to student centered learning. Her background with other education
technology companies support the role technology plays in changing math instruction and
student success. She is a North Carolina State University graduate and did her graduate
work at Duke University.

Linda Loase, Education Partnership Manager, brings over 20 years of professional
educational experience in providing solutions to help educational partners achieve their
goals in a classroom, hybrid or virtual environment. Her experience includes working with
VDOE, VASS, VCMS, VASCD, superintendents and division administrators, principals,
teachers and parents.  Linda has been part of the MIND Research Institute team for over
two years. In her role, she proactively shares ST Math information, research and resources
with school and division leaders highlighting the advantages of ST Math offering
multi-tiered solutions providing equity for all students.

Experience
Throughout MIND’s over 20 years of partnering with districts and schools across the United
States, we have enjoyed working to meet and exceed the goals of our customers.  Each
partnership has its own challenges based on instructional goals, student and teacher
population, and size of implementation.  In our efforts to overcome challenges, MIND has
become a well-rounded organization and trusted advisor for our customers.

Below, please find a description of a few notable partnerships that demonstrate MIND’s
experience and ability to successfully partner with large school districts to deliver ST Math
to students and educators.

1. District Name: Fairfax County Public Schools (Fairfax, VA)
Description of Partnership: A true study of the relational and partnership aspect
that became a successful implementation.  In the spring of 2019, contact was made
with the  math leadership team in Fairfax County. After two months of careful
planning and delivering presentations, 6 schools were awarded a district grant to
implement ST Math during the fall of 2019.   As a result of their success, interest
began to grow within the division.  In March of 2020, based on the success of the
original six schools, one additional school expressed interest in purchasing.   Once
again partnering with the math leadership team, this school was subsequently set
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up as a pilot site to evaluate the new HTML version of ST Math.  Included in the pilot
evaluation team, were the school administration, teachers, students, and parents.
After a successful pilot and evaluation period, the leadership team approved a
district-wide purchase.   During the summer of 2020, the math curriculum team
enhanced the partnership by embedding  ST Math’s objectives into the Fairfax
curriculum which helped support the classroom instruction.

For the 2020/2021 school year, Fairfax County Public Schools utilized ST Math at all
Elementary School sites to ensure their students (who were learning entirely via
virtual instruction) received a mathematics curriculum that would address the needs
of all of their students. Fairfax County Public Schools decided to implement ST Math
in 166 schools, including all of their elementary schools and middle schools and
Algebra Readiness in the high schools. The ongoing partnership includes
bi-monthly meetings between ST Math and the Fairfax Math Leadership Team to
evaluate the progress, address any concerns and discuss future improvements.   In
conclusion, if not for the careful development of a professional relationship with the
Fairfax Leadership Team, and expansion through crafted partnerships, the
successful implementation of ST Math in Fairfax County, Virginia would not be
possible.

2. District Name: Long Beach Unified School District (Long Beach, CA)
Description of Partnership: MIND Research Institute and Long Beach Unified
School District (Long Beach, CA) have enjoyed a strong partnership since 2007.
Throughout our over decade long relationship, MIND has worked with district- and
school-level leadership to ensure successful implementation of ST Math across 59
school sites.  The MIND team meets regularly with district administrators and has
worked to integrate ST Math into the core instruction pacing guide, provide in-depth
reporting to demonstrate efficacy and collaborate to resolve any challenges that
have arisen over the course of our partnership.

Over 35,000 students in Long Beach USD are currency using ST Math.

3. District Name: San Diego Unified School District
Description of Partnership: The partnership between San Diego Unified School
District (San Diego, CA) and MIND Research Institute began over a decade ago when
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various schools within the district chose ST Math as their solution to increase math
achievement.  Over the years more school administrators made the decision to
bring ST Math to their students, increasing the positive results and awareness of
MIND’s conceptual approach to math education.  In 2016, district leaders partnered
with MIND to bring ST Math to all elementary students across the district.  After the
success of the elementary implementation, the district chose to bring ST Math to all
27 middle school sites.

Throughout this partnership, MIND Research Institute has collaborated with district
and school leaders to ensure all teachers and administrators are equipped to
effectively leverage ST Math to increase math understanding with their students.
Aly Martinez, Instructional Coordinator of TK-12 Mathematics, shares that “ST Math
is THE ideal, high quality supplemental math program for our San Diego Unified
students as it celebrates learners as mathematicians and centers mathematical
learning on developing conceptual understanding. We appreciate the opportunity
ST Math offers to create personalized pathways for each learner, especially because
we’ve been able to customize learning paths around the essential mathematics our
district has prioritized.”

There are currently over 73,000 San Diego Unified students actively using ST Math.

4. District Name: Northside Independent School District
Description of Partnership: Northside Independent School District, the largest
school district in San Antonio and the fourth largest school district in the state of
Texas, began their implementation with all 80 elementary school sites in Fall 2019.
Prior to implementation, MIND Research Institute met with district leadership to
develop an onboarding and overall implementation plan for the district.  The MIND
team successfully planned and delivered training to all Northside Elementary
trainers prior to loading students on to the program, sometimes training over 100
teachers in a single day.

“ST Math offers students an engaging and innovative way of learning mathematical
concepts,” said Patti Sanchez, Executive Director of Elementary Instruction at
Northside. “This program was selected by a diverse group of educators who know
and value the needs of all K-5 students in Northside ISD. Building a solid foundation
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in the primary grades is critical and the scaffolding offered in ST Math will help set
up students for success.”

Northside ISD currently has over 45,000 students using ST Math.
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Tab 4 - Service Approach and Implementation
A. A sandbox environment for any digital proposed solutions for the committee

to use for evaluation.

To access the Sandbox/demo account, please enter play.stmath.com into your web
browser.  Once you arrive at the entry screen, please choose “Educator” to begin the login
process.

When at the Educator Sign-In page, please enter the credentials shown below:

Username: henricostm@gmail.com
Password: Mathisfun
*Please note, the password is case sensitive

To begin your evaluation of the content within ST Math, please hover over the Curriculum
section at the top of your screen.  From here, you can select All Learning Objectives to
view and review all of our learning objectives for all grade levels or Lessons: Elementary &
Middle to review our Math Chats feature.  Note, we recommend you start with All
Learning Objectives prior to reviewing the Math Chats content:

Once in the All Learning Objectives screen, you can select the grade level you would like
to review.  By clicking on the grade level, you will see each objective that is included within
that particular grade level journey.  Select the objective to open up additional details about
the content of that Objective.  The Objective screen will provide an overview, all of the
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games within the objective, and a quiz.  To play the games within the objective, simply
select the level to play.

B. A projected schedule for performing key phases of the project, including
estimated time frame
Below, please find a schedule of events that are required for implementation of the
ST Math program(s).  The schedule of activities begins upon receipt and entry of the
Purchase Order at MIND Research Institute’s main office and is approximated at 11
business/working days.

Action Description Day
(Busines
s Days)

Activation of
School in ST Math
& Staff
Assignments

School account is created in ST Math and the internal
ID (IID) is created. An Implementation Project
Manager and dedicated Education Success Manager
are assigned to the school.

1
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Welcome Email
Sent to School

Education Success Manager or Education
Partnership Manager will send a “Welcome to ST
Math” email to the new Partner School.  This email
will contain information regarding the upcoming
process of creating a  successful implementation and
support plan.

2

Success Planning
Meeting
Coordination

The Education Success Manager will coordinate with
the designated school official to schedule a Success
Planning Meeting and respond to any questions or
concerns from the school site.

3-4

Success Planning
Meeting

The Education Success Manager, joined by the
Education Partnership Manager, conduct the Success
Planning Meeting.  Listening to the needs of the
school, the Manager will advise on an appropriate
professional learning plan and implementation
model as well as best practices to ensure a
successful implementation of ST Math. Rostering
methods will be reviewed and where necessary,
connections will be made to MIND’s rostering team
and the site’s/district’s DBA.

5

Professional
Learning Planning
Meeting

Education Success Manager will propose and
coordinate details in the professional learning plan.
A Professional Learning Specialist will be secured to
deliver the professional learning.

6-10

Delivery of Initial
Training

A Professional Learning Specialist will deliver the
initial training to the school on the date that has
been decided upon.

11+
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Implementation
and Continued
Support/Monitori
ng by Education
Success Manager

Implementation of the ST Math program at the
school site begins after completion of the initial
Introduction to ST Math training. Throughout the
course of the licensed year, the Education Success
Manager will monitor and support the Partner Site.
Additionally, the Education Success Manager will
meet with district leaders on a quarterly basis to
review goals, usage, and implementation across the
district.

Training
Date &
Beyond

C. Any agreements to which HCPS may be required to agree to as part of the
contract should your firm be awarded the contract.
MIND Research Institute’s Terms of Use are posted to our main website and can be
found at www.stmath.com/terms .  These Terms of User are the rules that govern
the use of websites operated by MIND Research Institute, including ST Math.  By
using ST Math, you agree to the terms found within. Should Henrico County Public
Schools wish to amend the terms of our posted Terms of Use, MIND will work with
the district to negotiate appropriate terms.

D. Any terms and conditions the “end user” is required to accept
MIND Research Institute’s Terms of Use are posted to our main website and can be
found at www.stmath.com/terms .  These Terms of User are the rules that govern
the use of websites operated by MIND Research Institute, including ST Math.  By
using ST Math, you agree to the terms found within. Should Henrico County Public
Schools wish to amend the terms of our posted Terms of Use, MIND will work with
the district to negotiate appropriate terms.

E. Discuss how parental consent is handled, if required
MIND Research Institute does not collect parent information. Local Education
Agencies (LEA) are responsible for gaining parental consent of ST Math in a method
consistent with the LEA’s policy on software utilized by it’s students.

F. A detailed timeline for implementation of the proposed solution indicating
resources (responsible party) and completion dates.
Below, please find a schedule of events that are required for implementation of the
ST Math program(s).  The schedule of activities begins upon receipt and entry of the
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Purchase Order at MIND Research Institute’s main office and is approximated at 11
business/working days.

Action Description Day
(Busines
s Days)

Activation of
School in ST Math
& Staff
Assignments

School account is created in ST Math and the internal
ID (IID) is created. An Implementation Project
Manager and dedicated Education Success Manager
are assigned to the school.

1

Welcome Email
Sent to School

Education Success Manager or Education
Partnership Manager will send a “Welcome to ST
Math” email to the new Partner School.  This email
will contain information regarding the upcoming
process of creating a  successful implementation and
support plan.

2

Success Planning
Meeting
Coordination

The Education Success Manager will coordinate with
the designated school official to schedule a Success
Planning Meeting and respond to any questions or
concerns from the school site.

3-4

Success Planning
Meeting

The Education Success Manager, joined by the
Education Partnership Manager, conduct the Success
Planning Meeting.  Listening to the needs of the
school, the Manager will advise on an appropriate
professional learning plan and implementation
model as well as best practices to ensure a
successful implementation of ST Math. Rostering
methods will be reviewed and where necessary,
connections will be made to MIND’s rostering team
and the site’s/district’s DBA.

5

Professional
Learning Planning
Meeting

Education Success Manager will propose and
coordinate details in the professional learning plan.
A Professional Learning Specialist will be secured to
deliver the professional learning.

6-10
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Delivery of Initial
Training

A Professional Learning Specialist will deliver the
initial training to the school on the date that has
been decided upon.

11+

Implementation
and Continued
Support/Monitori
ng by Education
Success Manager

Implementation of the ST Math program at the
school site begins after completion of the initial
Introduction to ST Math training. Throughout the
course of the licensed year, the Education Success
Manager will monitor and support the Partner Site.
Additionally, the Education Success Manager will
meet with district leaders on a quarterly basis to
review goals, usage, and implementation across the
district.

Training
Date &
Beyond
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Tab 5 - Training and Professional Development
MIND Research Institute is dedicated to providing school and district leadership and
teachers with the tools, knowledge and information needed to maximize their success with
ST Math. Educators, Site and District Administrators, as well as Instructional Division
Personnel and Technology Integrators receive initial training, the Play, Learn, Teach, Grow
with ST Math workshop, to get up and running on the software and to learn the best
practices of implementation (included in the purchase price of a ST Math Site Subscription
License). This 2-hour workshop is followed up with a 1-hour Q & A

During the introductory workshop, participants will:

● Explore how students learn in ST Math
● Learn to support and leverage the Learning Cycle
● Create a plan to introduce, implement and teach ST with ST Math
● Learn to monitor usage, set goals, and grow with ST Math.

The goal of the follow-up Q & A session is to ensure the learning outcomes of the
introductory workshop were met and each educator has had a successful launch. It is
designed with the learners in mind, and topics are determined by the annual workshop
post-event survey, follow-up questions, and administrator feedback.

An additional post-training debrief with instructional leaders will be scheduled for
approximately 4-6 weeks after implementation has begun.

In addition to the training each school will receive, each site is also assigned a dedicated
Education Success Manager.  The role of the Education Success Managers at MIND
Research Institute is to provide just-in-time assistance to their assigned partner schools in
support of the successful implementation of ST Math Programs.  Access to the Education
Success Manager is available to teachers implementing the ST Math Programs, building
level supervisors who oversee implementations, and district-level administrators who are
invested in the program’s success.

Teachers and staff who wish to continue learning about ST Math outside of the initial
training session can access the embedded resources, ST Math Academy and ST Math Help.
ST Math Academy provides professional learning to deepen application of ST Math, and an
opportunity to engage in a community of learning around MIND’s unique approach to
mathematics education. ST Math Help is a robust library of just-in-time resources including
the following: scope and sequence, video tutorials, FAQs, and printable student resources
to extend learning.
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Your dedicated Education Success Manager will work with administrator partners to
develop a flexible plan for Professional Learning that meets the school/district’s needs.  We
have the capability to deliver our introduction to ST Math workshop as well as our
continued professional learning offerings via the following delivery methods:

● On-Demand/Distance Learning – a series of asynchronous courses that teachers
and administrators may complete independently at a time and location of their
choice

● Webinars – virtual, instructor-led, synchronous workshops delivered via WebEx that
may be scheduled at times convenient to individual school/district needs

● In-Person Training – face-to-face onsite delivery of our introductory and continued
ST Math Workshop titles.

○ Please note, this delivery option is currently unavailable due to recommendations
from health officials.  MIND will resume offering in-person professional learning
when it is safe to do so.

Teachers implementing ST Math receive access to ST Math Academy’s on-demand learning
modules are available to all licensed educators, regardless of any additional professional
learning options that have been agreed upon.

Ongoing professional learning workshops are also available and designed to deepen
teachers’ pedagogical content knowledge for teaching math through the use of ST Math.
Each school site receives ongoing technical and curricular assistance from an assigned
MIND Education Success Manager and educators have access to Technical Support through
the ST Math Help site and Customer Support. All new ST Math partner sites receive initial
training and professional learning  via instructor-led webinars, asynchronous on-demand
courses, onsite instructor-led workshops, or a combination of the aforementioned.

ST Math School Level Reports give the principal and complex area resource team the
necessary tools to work with teachers to analyze their class and individual student data in
order to identify areas of growth and target student needs.

Should there be a desire for additional professional learning opportunities beyond what is
included in the ST Math Site Subscription license, the district or individual schools may
purchase extra training for the fees outlined below:
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Tab 6 - Technical Requirements
A. Evidence of ability to accommodate concurrent users based on data collected

from a similar environment
There are currently over 1.3 million individual students as well as over 74,000
teachers across 5,500 schools in the United States using ST Math.  To ensure MIND
Research Institute’s systems are able to handle large number of users using the ST
Math program concurrently, we have built our server architecture to scale using
Amazon Web Services (AWS).

B. How accounts are maintained in the system and how automated provisioning
of users and accounts is supported
Teacher and student accounts may be created and maintained in ST Math via either
a  rostering system (I.e. Clever or Classlink) or through CSV roster upload.

C. Describe the data exchange process in detail
ST Math User Accounts for students, teachers and administrators can be created
through our automated account provisioning system or through our simple startup
process.  The automated account provisioning process can be setup to provision
accounts for students, teachers and administrators on a predetermined frequency
(e.g. nightly) using data from the Student Information System (SIS) or may be synced
via Clever Secure Sync. ST Math supports mobility of student accounts within a
district during the school year.  If the district or school is automatically provisioning
accounts from the SIS system, the student’s account and data will be automatically
modified as they transfer within the SIS system between schools and/or classes due
to entrance or exit. MIND also offers tools within the application to quickly add,
modify and delete student accounts manually.

D. Describe any limitations the proposed solution may have such as number of
teachers for a class and the number of schools associated with teachers and
students
Currently, ST Math allows for one (1) teacher to be assigned to each individual
classroom.   However, students are able to be listed in more than one (1) classroom
if a co-teacher is listed and provided for rostering purposes. Additionally, staff
(teachers, administrators, district staff) may be listed at multiple school sites within a
district, however they must remain within that particular district.
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E. Provide per user bandwidth requirements for the proposed solution
All campuses implementing ST Math are required to have a high-speed internet
connection for each device running the program.  The average bandwidth per
student/device is 512kbps.

F. Provide the average bandwidth per student required
The average bandwidth per student/device is 512kbps.

G. Provide a detailed description of the implementation and support the solution
has for LTI version 1.1 or higher certified as a toll Provider (TP) with our LMS
Solution (Schoology)
ST Math supports integration with Schoology to enable students to login to ST math
via single-sign-on from Schoology.
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Tab 7 - Infrastructure and System Administration
A. Provide details of the hosting environment including hosting provider, service

level agreements between the Offeror and the hosting provider and the length
of the relationship between the hosting provider.
ST Math is hosted on Amazon Web Services (AWS) servers. MIND Research Institute
has hosted ST Math on AWS for five (5) years and the AWS SLA may be found at
https://aws.amazon.com/legal/service-level-agreements/

B. Provide specifics of structures in place to ensure high availability including
redundant Internet paths, hardware failover, scalability, and protection
against denial of service attacks or other network threats
MIND Research Institute’s infrastructure is hosted entirely on Amazon Web Services
(AWS).  Through the course of designing, implementing and maintaining our
systems, MIND follows AWS and industry best practices. We use a clustered
redundant server environment that provides redundant application and web
servers as well as redundant database instances across multiple geographic
locations.  Amazon has many processes and certifications to guarantee the safety
and reliability of the files stored in S3. We adhere to all Amazon's security best
practices. Amazon redundantly stores files on multiple devices across multiple
facilities across multiple geographic zones.  MIND exceeds the AWS 99.9% SLA
uptime rating.

C. Provide specifics of security measures in place to ensure that district data is
secure during both storage and transit.
MIND Research Institute strives to keep informed of these risks, and we work
diligently to combat them. One method of protecting User data is to utilize
cryptography to prevent data visibility in the event of its unauthorized access. MIND
Research Institute leverages cryptography to protect user data in the following two
ways:

Data in Transit. Our services support Transport Layer Security (“TLS”) to encrypt
User communications (TLS 1.2 or greater and only the strongest ciphers). Data
transferred between our Site and its end Users (including credential submission,
data uploads, and data downloads) are sent over TLS connections, which  protect
such data using strong encryption, so that data in transit is kept in a private channel
between the intended User and our systems.
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Data at Rest. User data that contains personally identifying information, when
“at-rest” (i.e., when in storage) is encrypted using industry standard AES-256. There
are two types of "at rest" storage:

- Database. Database server disk storage is “volume” encrypted (i.e., encrypted
at the level of the database).

- User Files. User files are individually encrypted before being recorded on
long-term, secondary storage systems

D. SOC 2 compliance status (certification documentation should be provided)
SOC 2 compliant via Amazon Web Services (AWS).  Documentation may be found at
https://aws.amazon.com/compliance/soc-faqs/

E. Specifics of structures in palace to ensure acceptable disaster recovery
including backup schedules and redundancy
In the case of equipment malfunction or replacement, MIND Research Institute has
a disaster recovery plan in place whereby data may be duplicated across several
AWS regions and Availability Zones to avoid the loss of said data.

F. Internet bandwidth requirements and provide a per user bandwidth usage
specification of the software product.
The average bandwidth per student/device is 512kbps.

G. Specifics of availability of remote access to the district’s data outside of the
web-based application.
For MIND’s access to the district’s data outside of ST Math,  authorized users (role
based access) would utilize VPN with MFA to access data.

District access to data outside of ST Math is not possible.

H. Specifics on the frequency and duration of operating system and application
updates including the procedures used to inform the district of maintenance
windows and system downtime for these tasks.
Our current and future release strategy is based on a standard calendar year and is
geared toward accommodating the typical school year schedule.  We plan for a
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major, primary software release occurring near the beginning of the third quarter,
generally prior to the start of the new school year. Additionally, we plan for a
secondary, minor release to occur near the start of the first quarter, around the
winter break.  Other optional minor releases may be scheduled for the beginning of
quarters two and four.  Finally, we believe in an "active patching" philosophy
whereby we issue point releases whenever issues, whether defect corrections or
opportunities for learning enhancement, are noted and implemented.

I. Any tools available to measure system responsiveness
MIND Research Institute monitors the status of ST Math through the
status.stmath.com web portal.  Additionally, we continually monitor AWS for any
downtime.

J. Any limits on data storage (i.e. user quotas, access to previous year data,
database size, etc.)
User data is currently available for the current school year in use.

K. Details about how Digital Math services would recover in the event of an
internet or system outage.  The proposed solution shall be deployable on
services and equipment hosted or administered by Successful Offerer.
Hosting the solution on a 3rd part, such as Amazon or Azure, is acceptable.
In the case of equipment malfunction or replacement, MIND Research Institute has
a disaster recovery plan in place whereby data may be duplicated across several
AWS regions and Availability Zones to avoid the loss of said data.
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Tab 8 - Reporting and Monitoring
A. Describe program-specific progress monitoring. While program monitoring is

desired, HCPS shall continue to monitor student progress using a progress
monitoring tool that is independent of the students’ curriculum/intervention.
Data is measured in logins, puzzles and minutes per week. Students and teachers
will see puzzles and minutes this week, last week and average week. These progress
metrics will also scale up from individual student to whole class to school to district,
providing consistent, comparable numbers on every scale.

ST Math uses a mastery-based approach to learning. Each puzzle in ST Math is a
math problem. After correctly solving a group of similar puzzles for a level, the
student collects them (a level contains 8 puzzles). The minutes metric counts time
from the time they log in to the time they log out. Student minutes on the program
will be consistently accurate, since students will be signed out after ten minutes of
inactivity.

With these metrics, all content counts toward student progress, not just the set
curriculum, meaning that students can work on the content that will help them grow
the most without being penalized, including optional objectives or those from lower
grades.

To support monitoring and data conversations, ST Math provides teachers with a
series of trackers, goal setting and data discussion tips,and strategies for using the
students’ own data from the trackers to discuss math concepts. The goal setting
support provides increased opportunities for student agency; strengthens students’
ability to communicate what they have accomplished; helps students identify areas
for improvement; teaches time management; and encourages a focus on strategies
to overcome challenges.

ST Math also reports productivity data for individual students, classes, and schools.
The productivity data provides a great way to monitor implementation, assess the
effectiveness of the intervention, and identify areas of challenge. The data also
shows the amount of content the students are learning and the rate at which they
are learning it by indicating the number of puzzle collected, the number of puzzles
per minute earned, and the number of objectives that have been completed.
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B. Provide samples and descriptions of reports offered and the ability to
customize content and reports.
The following sample reports are shown by their location (tab) on the teacher console.

Students Tab
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Usage Tab

Objectives Tab
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Standards Tab
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Tab 9 - Pricing/Cost Proposal
A. List all categories separately, itemized such as license per student, teacher,

classroom and site, material cost, consumables, training of County staff, projected
man-hours, hourly rates, and reimbursable expenses. Attachment H.

Sample table - Will need to translate to their document

Provide Pricing as it relates to the
proposed solution

Price

Price per Student Not Available

Price per Teacher Not Available

Price per Classroom Not Available

Price per Site Pricing per school site for ST Math K8 is
dependent upon the total enrollment of
students at the individual school site:

1-150 Students:  $3,500
151-250 Students:  $6,000
251+ Students:  $12,000

Price for District License PreK-5 $432,000.00

Price for District License PreK-8 $546,000.00

Price for District License PreK-12 Not Available

Price for District License 6-8 Not Available

Price for District License 6-12 Not Available

Price for District License 9-12 Not Available

1 Day of Professional Development - Train
the trainer model (20 Elementary or
Secondary ILCs/ITRTs, 3 Educational
Specialists, +1 additional personnel - total
of 20+)

1 day of Professional Development - Price Not Available
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per Teacher

1 Day of Professional Development for
Elementary or Secondary School Staff -
Approximately 35-100

Initial Start-Up Professional Learning is
included with a Site Subscription License
for sites with at least 151 students enrolled.

Should the district wish to purchase
additional Professional Development
outside of what is included in the Site
Subscription license, MIND Research
Institute charges $1,500 for an On-Site
professional learning offering.  Each
offering has a maximum of 25 participants,
so multiple offerings would be needed
based upon the overall total of participants
the district wishes to train.

35-50 Participants:  $3,000 (2 offerings)
51-75 Participants:  $4,500 (3 offerings)
76-100 Participants:  $6,000 (4 offerings)

Additional Professional Development
Models

MIND Research Institute also offers
professional development delivered
virtually as opposed to on-site.  These
offerings are one (1) 90-minute session and
have a maximum of 50 participants per
offering.

The cost for this option is $750 per offering

Printed Materials - Provide list of pricing for
each product offered

Not Applicable - There are no printed
materials for ST Math K8

Consumables - provide list of pricing for
each product offered

Not Applicable - There are no printed
materials/consumables for ST Math K8

Provide Information on price breaks for volume purchases: MIND Research Institute
is a 501(c)3 non-profit organization with a mission to ensure that all students are
mathematically equipped to solve the world’s most challenging problems. MIND in Kind is our
way as a social impact organization of giving back to our partners, as well as encouraging
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schools to implement ST Math with fidelity. When a school applies for MIND in Kind support,
they must review MIND’s recommended implementation model and agree to implement to
the best of their ability in order to receive the MIND in Kind funding. MIND in Kind support is
distinct from the ST Math School Grants Program, which applies funding from our
philanthropic partners to certain schools and districts that meet donor-specific criteria.

For Henrico County Public Schools’ request above for District level licensing, MIND has
applied our MIND in Kind grant support for each category.
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ATTACHMENT H 

PRICING OPTIONS 

Provide pricing as it relates to the proposed solution Price 

Price per Student 

$ 

Price per Teacher $ 

Price per Classroom $ 

Price per Site $ 

Price for District License PreK-5 $ 

Price for District License PreK-8 

$ 

Price for District License PreK-12 

$ 

Price for District License  6-8 $ 

Price for District License 6-12 $ 

Price for District License 9-12 $ 

1 day of Professional Development- train the trainer model (20 

Elementary or Secondary ILCs/ITRTs, 3 Educational Specialist, + 1 

additional personnel- total of 20 +) 

$ 

1 day of Professional Development - price per teacher 

$ 

1 day of Professional Development for Elementary or Secondary 

School Staff- approximately 35 - 100 

$ 

MIND Research Institute

Not Available

Not Available 

Not Available
Pricing per school site for ST Math K8 is 
dependent upon the total enrollment of 
students at the individual school site.  
See details below
432,000*
*Includes MIND in Kind Grant 
funding support based on volume.

546,000*
*Includes MIND in Kind Grant funding
support based on volume.

Not Available

Not Available

Not Available

Not Available

Not Available

See below

Not Available
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Additional Professional Development models 

$ 

Printed materials – provide list of pricing for each product offered $ 

Consumables – provide list of pricing for each product offered $ 

Provide information on price breaks for volume purchases. 

Price per Site (Information)
Pricing per school site for ST Math K8 is dependent upon the total enrollment of students at the individual school 
site:

1-150 Students:  $3,500
151-250 Students:  $6,000
251+ Students:  $12,000

1 Day of Professional Development for Elementary or Secondary School Staff - approximately 35-100
Initial Start-Up Professional Learning is included with a Site Subscription License for sites with at least 151 
students enrolled.  

Should the district wish to purchase additional Professional Development outside of what is included in the Site 
Subscription license, MIND Research Institute charges $1,500 for an On-Site professional learning offering.  Each 
offering has a maximum of 25 participants, so multiple offerings would be needed based upon the overall total of 
participants the district wishes to train.

35-50 Participants:  $3,000 (2 offerings)
51-75 Participants:  $4,500 (3 offerings)
76-100 Participants:  $6,000 (4 offerings)

Additional Professional Development Models:
MIND Research Institute also offers professional development delivered virtually as opposed to on-site.  These 
offerings are one (1) 90-minute session and have a maximum of 50 participants per offering.   

The cost for this option is $750 per offering

Volume Purchases:
MIND Research Institute is a 501(c)3 non-profit organization with a mission to ensure that all students are 
mathematically equipped to solve the world’s most challenging problems. MIND in Kind is our way as a social 
impact organization of giving back to our partners, as well as encouraging schools to implement ST Math with 
fidelity. When a school applies for MIND in Kind support, they must review MIND’s recommended 
implementation model and agree to implement to the best of their ability in order to receive the MIND in Kind 
funding. MIND in Kind support is distinct from the ST Math School Grants Program, which applies funding from 
our philanthropic partners to certain schools and districts that meet donor-specific criteria.

For Henrico County Public Schools’ request above for District level licensing, MIND has applied our MIND in 
Kind grant support for each category. 

See below

See below

Not Applicable - There are no 
printed materials for ST Math K8

Not Applicable - There are no 
printed materials for ST Math K8
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B. Include a statement that the Successful Offeror will provide all services as
outlined in their proposal.
MIND Research Institute is committed to providing all services offered within this
proposal.  We are staffed to ensure all districts and schools receive a high level of
quality support and are prepared to fulfill all commitments found herein.
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C. For evaluation purposes provide all costs as it relates to the proposed solution
for the scenario on Attachment G.

ATTACHMENT G

Scenario Price

Provide pricing for an annual subscription
for one site license for an elementary
school with 415 students

$12,000

Provide pricing for an annual subscription
for one site license for a middle school with
900 students

$12,000

Provide pricing for an annual subscription
for one site license for a high school with
1,700 students

Not Available

Printed Materials Not Applicable - There are no printed
materials/consumables for ST Math K8

Consumables Not Applicable - There are no printed
materials/consumables for ST Math K8

Provide pricing for 1 day (6 hours) of
on-site professional development for staff
of 25

$2,500/Offering

Describe what professional learning
options would be available if the county
purchased a district license (46 ES, 12 MS,
10 HS)

Should the district purchase a district
license, licensing either all 46 elementary
schools or 58 elementary & middle schools,
MIND will consolidate the included virtual
professional learning sessions into onsite
professional learning sessions if desired by
the county.  These onsite offerings should
be hosted in a centralized location to
ensure all teachers and administrators are
able to attend and receive their training
prior to implementing ST Math.  The
proposed plan is as follows:
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All 46 Elementary Schools:  Up to 24 Onsite
Professional Learning sessions with 3
trainings per trainer per day (4 trainers
est.)

All 58 Elementary & Middle Schools:  Up to
30 Onsite Professional Learning sessions
with sessions with 3 trainings per trainer
per day (4 trainers est.)

Total Per Elementary/Middle School Total
$12,000

District Total (46 Elementary)
$432,000*
*Includes additional MIND in Kind grant
funding due to volume

District Total (46 Elementary & 12
Middle)
$546,000*
*Includes additional MIND in Kind grant
funding due to volume
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Attachment G 

Pricing Scenario 

Provide pricing for the scenario below based off pricing being offered. 

Scenario Price 

Provide pricing for an annual subscription for one site 

license for an elementary school with 415 students  

$ 

Provide pricing for an annual subscription for one site 

license for a middle school with 900 students   

$ 

Provide pricing for an annual subscription for one site 

license for a high school with 1,700 students  

$ 

Printed Materials $ 

Consumables $ 

Provide pricing for 1 day (6 hours) of on-site professional 

development training for staff of 25 

$ 

Describe what professional learning options would be 

available if the county purchased a district license. 

(46 ES, 12 MS, 10 HS) 

$ 

Total 

$ 

MIND Research Institute

12,000.00

12,000.00

Not Available

Not Applicable - there are 
no printed materials for ST Math

Not Applicable - there are 
no printed materials for ST Math

2,500.00/Offering

Per Elementary/Middle 
School Total
$12,000

District Total (46 
Elementary)
$432,000*
*Includes additional 
MIND in Kind grant 
funding due to volume 

District Total (46 
Elementary & 12 Middle)
$546,000*
*Includes additional 
MIND in Kind grant 
funding due to volume 

     MIND offers an onsite 
professional learning plan for a 
county-wide purchase.  Please 
refer to Tab 9 for full detail.
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Tab 10 - References

1. Fairfax County Public Schools (VA)
Contact Name:  Amy Hunter,, Ph.D.
Title:  K-12 Mathematics Coordinator,  Instructional Service Department
Phone:  (571) 423-4725
Email: aehunter2@fcps.edu

2. Albemarle County Schools (VA)
Contact Name:  Natalie Farrell
Title:  Lead Math Coach
Phone:  434-296-5820 ext. 13535
Email: nfarrell@k12albemarle.org

3. San Diego Unified School District (CA)
Contact Name:  Maria Montgomery
Title:  Instructional Support Officer, Office of Leadership and Learning
Phone:  (619) 725-7241
Email: mmontgomery@sandi.net

4. Cedar Rapids Community Schools (IA)
Contact Name:  John Rice
Title:  Executive Director of Teaching and Learning
Phone:  319-558-4735
Email: jrice@crschools.us

5. Northside Independent School District (TX)
Contact Name:  Tracy Gonzales-Martinez
Title:  Instructional Specialist, Elementary Math
Phone:  (210) 397-8654
Email: tracy.gonzales-martinez@nisd.net

Additional references are available upon request.
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Tab 11 - Exceptions (if needed)
None.
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Tab 12 - Assumptions (if needed)
In this tab, offerors shall list any assumptions made when responding to this Request for
Proposals.

1. For the scenario listed in Attachment G, MIND has provided a standard Site
Subscription license for ST Math K8 at either an Elementary or Middle School. This,
on its own, includes two (2) virtual professional learning offerings meant to provide
educators with the knowledge and skills to successfully implement ST Math with
students. In the “Total” box we have shown the per Elementary School price for an
annual ST Math Site Subscription, based on the total number of students indicated
in the scenario, for either a Elementary or a Middle School and have not included
the $2,500 for an additional day of onsite professional learning.  Should there be a
desire or need to purchase additional professional learning services, we will work
with the district to develop an accurate price quote based on need.

Additionally, we have included a price for a District purchase for 46 elementary
schools  as well as another price for a district purchase for 46 elementary and 12
middle schools.  The prices shown for district level purchases include additional
MIND in KIND grant funding due to volume, so the price per school for a district lead
purchase is less than $12,000.
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Tab 13 - Appendices (if needed)
Optional for Offerors who wish to submit additional material that will clarify their response.

Attached, please find the following additional materials:

● Terms of Use: In response to Tab 4 items C & D:
○ Any agreements to which HCPS may be required to agree to as part of

the contract should your firm be awarded the contract.
○ Any terms and conditions the “end user” is required to accept

The attached are MIND Research Institute’s posted Terms of Use that apply to ST
Math as well as any MIND Research Institute owned and operated websites.  Users
agree to these terms by using ST Math.  Should the county find any portion of these
terms unacceptable as written, MIND Research Institute will negotiate revisions via a
mutually agreed upon Amendment.

● Audited Financial Statements: Tab 3 requested evidence of financial stability.
Attached, please find MIND Research Institute’s audited financial statements for the
following years:

○ 2019
○ 2018
○ 2017
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MIND Research Institute Terms of Use 

Last Updated: October 7, 2016 

The following Terms of Use, or “Terms” are the rules that govern use of the websites operated by MIND 
Research Institute (“MIND”, “we”, “us”, “our”), including those located at mindresearch.org, 
stmath.com, and such other websites and mobile applications (“App(s)”) as may be operated by MIND 
(“Site(s)”), including our ST Math® software products that may be accessed by students or teachers via 
such sites and applications (the “Software”).  By downloading an App or otherwise using a Site, you and 
the entity that you represent, if applicable (“you”, “your”) agree to comply with and be bound by these 
Terms.  This Agreement also incorporates by reference our Privacy Policy located at 
http://www.mindresearch.org/misc/privacy/, as it may be updated from time to time pursuant to the terms 
herein and therein.  Software licensed by parents / legal guardians for homeschooling will be subject to 
the end user license agreement (“Homeschooling EULA”) provided with such Software. 

NOTE:  SECTION 5 (Choice of Law; Dispute Resolution; No Class Actions) BELOW CONTAINS A 
BINDING ARBITRATION PROVISION, INCLUDING A CLASS ACTION WAIVER, THAT 
AFFECTS YOUR RIGHTS UNDER THESE TERMS AND WITH RESPECT TO DISPUTES YOU 
MAY HAVE WITH US. 

1. Use of the Sites and Software. 

Users of Our Sites and Software.  Certain of our Sites host our ST Math® instructional Software, which 
has been developed for use by students from pre-kindergarten through high school (“Student(s)”), for the 
improvement of math-related skills and achievement.  Students are provided access to our Software and 
Sites through their schools and school districts (collectively, “Local Educational Agencies” or “LEAs”), 
who utilize these services to assess their Students’ progress and supplement their mathematics curriculum. 

Student Users.  If you are a Student, you may only use the Sites and Software if you are at least 13 years 
of age, or if you are otherwise using the Sites and/or Software with the consent and under the supervision 
of your parent, legal guardian, or teacher / school representative. 

Teachers / LEA Users.  If you represent a school or other LEA, you hereby represent, warrant, and 
covenant on behalf of such school or other LEA that (a) you have the authority to disclose any Student 
Records (as defined under the Privacy Policy) provided to us for your Students hereunder, and have 
obtained all consents necessary for same, and (b) that you have not and will not breach any applicable 
laws in the collection, disclosure, or use of the Student Records hereunder. 

LEAs’ Obligations for Students Under 13.  If you have Students under 13 who will use the Sites or 
Software, you expressly consent to the collection, use, and disclosure of personal information as set forth 
in our Privacy Policy from your Student users under the age of 13.  You also agree to use the Sites and 
Software as well as any Student information you collect from such Sites and/or Software in accordance 
with our Privacy Policy and all applicable laws.  You agree and acknowledge that you will not use the 
Sites or Software with any Student under 13 years old, unless you are an authorized representative of that 
Student’s LEA, with authority to consent to the collection use and disclosure of personal information 
from such Student. 
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Acceptable Use Policies.  You agree to use the Site in accordance with all applicable laws.  Because 
MIND is a nonprofit, tax-exempt organization, you agree that you will not use the Site for organized 
partisan political activities.  You further agree that you will not post, upload, transmit, distribute, store, 
create or otherwise publish through any Site, or through any other MIND computing resources: 

• Content that defames or threatens others 
• Statements that are bigoted, hateful or racially offensive 
• Content that discusses illegal activities with the intent to commit them 
• Content that infringes another’s intellectual property, including, but not limited to, copyrights, 

trademarks or trade secrets 
• Material that contains vulgar or obscene language or images 
• Advertising, promotional materials, or any form of commercial solicitation 

You also may not: 

• harvest or otherwise collect personal information about users, including e-mail addresses, 
without their consent 

• use any robot, spider, crawler, scraper, bots or other automated means to access or use the 
Sites 

• introduce or attempt to introduce software viruses, Trojan horses, worms, backdoors or any 
other computer codes, files, or programming instruction or set of instructions that are 
designed or intended to disrupt, disable, harm, interfere or otherwise adversely affect any 
computer programs, software, firmware, hardware, mobile devices, wireless devices, 
computer systems, data or operations. 

2. Permission to Use the Sites. 

License from Us.  Subject to your compliance with the Terms, MIND grants you a personal, non-
exclusive, non-transferable license to (a) if you are a Student, or parent or legal guardian of a Student, 
using the App, download, install, and use the App, if applicable, on a mobile device; and (b) access and 
use the Site, including the contents and materials on the Sites, including reports generated from the 
Software, for your internal personal purposes, and not for commercial resale, sublicensing, time-sharing 
or service bureau usage.  You may access the Site only for your own personal, non-commercial uses 
described herein.  You may not otherwise copy, reproduce, retransmit, distribute, publish, commercially 
exploit or otherwise transfer any materials on the Site, including the Software.  Any resale, redistribution, 
or publication of the Software or other contents on the Sites, or any modifications or derivative works, is 
prohibited.  The burden of determining that use of any information, software or any other content on the 
Site is permissible rests with you. 

Restrictions.  Subject to the terms above, certain reports generated by the Software may be downloaded 
onto your computer or device through the use of the Software.  If you download or print a copy of such 
content for personal use, you must retain all copyright and other proprietary notices contained therein.  
The use of bots, crawlers, spiders, data miners, scraping and other automatic access tools to collect any 
content on the Sites, including User Provider Materials (as defined below), or otherwise access the Sites is 
expressly prohibited.  You agree not to circumvent, disable or otherwise interfere with security related 
features of the Sites or Software.  Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing, you may not interfere copy, 
modify, distribute or reverse engineer, decompile or disassemble the Apps, Software, or other Sites, or 
make any derivative works based on any App, Software, or other Sites (including any customization, 
translation, or localization).  Your compliance with the requirements in this paragraph is a condition to, 
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and material inducement and consideration for, our granting you the right to download, access and use the 
Sites.  Any unauthorized use or other activity by you in violation of these Terms of Use will cause the 
licenses granted to you under this Section 2 (Permission to Use the Sites) to terminate immediately and 
automatically.  Nothing in these Terms of Use transfers or otherwise grants any ownership rights from us 
to you any intellectual property rights of MIND or any third party licensor; and all right, title and interest 
in, to and under any intellectual property rights in the Sites, Software, User Provided Materials, or other 
materials on the Sites will remain solely with the MIND Research Institute, its affiliates or such third 
party, as applicable. 

3. User Provided Content. 

You may use the Site for legal purposes only.  The Sites may contain content submitted by you or other 
users ("User Provided Materials").  MIND merely hosts and provides tools to post and share User 
Provided Materials, and you agree and acknowledge that we have no liability with regard to such 
material.  Furthermore, you agree that, if a third party claims that any User Provided Materials you have 
contributed to the Site is unlawful or breaches any intellectual property, privacy, or other rights of third 
parties, you will bear the sole burden of establishing that the material complies with all applicable laws 
and does not infringe any third party rights, and you will bear the sole and exclusive liability for any 
breach of applicable laws or any third party rights.  MIND has the right to remove material from the Site, 
block access, or take other action with respect to the User Provided Material in its sole discretion. 

Your License Grant to MIND.  By submitting User Provided Materials on any of the Sites, you hereby 
grant MIND a perpetual, irrevocable, transferable, sublicenseable, worldwide, royalty-free, license to 
host, store, copy, publish, display, distribute, provide access to, modify or create derivative works of, and 
otherwise use or sell your User Provided Materials, in any form or context we deem appropriate on or 
through any media or medium and with any technology or devices now known or hereafter developed or 
discovered. 

Feedback that You Provide.  If you provide any ideas, suggestions, documents, and/or proposals 
(“Feedback") to us through the Sites, you acknowledge and agree that:  (a) your Feedback does not 
contain confidential or proprietary information or yours or any third parties; (b) such Feedback does not  
infringe the intellectual property rights of any third parties; (c) such Feedback is automatically assigned to 
MIND, to the maximum extent that such assignment is permissible under applicable laws, and otherwise, 
you hereby grant MIND a perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide, fully-paid up, royalty free, assignable, 
sublicensable license to use, reproduce, display, create derivative works of, make, sell, have made, have 
sold, import, export or otherwise exploit any such Feedback; and (d) you are not entitled to any 
compensation or reimbursement from MIND for such Feedback. 

4. Links to Other Sites. 

MIND’s Site may include hyperlinks to websites maintained or controlled by others.  MIND is not 
responsible for and does not routinely screen, approve, review or endorse the contents of or use of any of 
the products or services that may be offered at these websites. 

5. Choice of Law; Dispute Resolution; No Class Actions. 

Governing Law; Arbitration.  The Site is hosted by MIND on computing resources located in Orange 
County, California.  You agree that any dispute arising out of or relating to these Terms or any content 
posted to a Site will be governed by the laws of the State of California, excluding any conflicts of law 
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provisions to the contrary, as well as all applicable federal laws, including the Federal Arbitration Act.  
Except as provided in this paragraph with respect to requests for injunctive relief, any controversy, claim 
or dispute arising out of these Terms or your use of the Site (“Claims”)) shall be resolved by final and 
binding arbitration.  Such arbitration shall take place in Orange County, California, and shall be 
administered by a single arbitrator pursuant to the JAMS Comprehensive Arbitration Rules and 
Procedures.  The arbitrator shall be empowered to award any form of individual relief, including 
injunctive relief. In order to keep costs down for both you and us, hearings may, at our request, be 
conducted telephonically or entirely upon submissions. 

Causes of Action.  YOU AND MIND RESEARCH INSTITUTE AGREE THAT ANY CAUSE OF 
ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THE SITE MUST COMMENCE WITHIN ONE (1) 
YEAR AFTER THE CAUSE OF ACTION ACCRUES. OTHERWISE, SUCH CAUSE OF ACTION IS 
PERMANENTLY BARRED. 

Class Action Waiver.  In addition to the above, you waive the right to bring any Claim as a class action, 
consolidated, multi-district or collective action, or private attorney general action.  You also agree not to 
participate in any class action, consolidated, multi-district or collective action, or private attorney general 
action regarding any Claim.  If we prevail in any arbitration or proceeding to enforce this Agreement or 
arising out of your access to or use of the Site, we shall be entitled to recover, in addition to all other 
available legal and equitable relief, its legal costs, including attorneys’ fees. 

Third Party Beneficiaries.  You acknowledge and agree that each of our partners and customers, which 
includes LEAs with Students hereunder, is participating on the Site in reliance of its and your rights, 
remedies, and obligations under these Terms, including those of this paragraph, and each such entity will 
be a third-party beneficiary of this Section 5 (Choice of Law; Dispute Resolution; No Class Actions). 

6. Disclaimers; Limitation of Liability. 

Disclaimers.  MIND does not warrant, and hereby disclaims any warranties, either express or implied, 
with respect to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of any Site, information obtained from the Site, or 
link to a Site.  MIND does not warrant that Site will operate in an uninterrupted or error-free manner or 
that the Site is free of viruses or other harmful components.  Use of information obtained from or through 
these Sites is at your own risk.  MIND makes no representation regarding your ability to transmit and 
receive information from or through the Site and you agree and acknowledge that your ability to access 
the Site may be impaired.  MIND disclaims any and all liability resulting from or related to such events.  
THIS SITE, THE SOFTWARE  AND ANY INFORMATION, PRODUCTS OR SERVICES HEREIN 
ARE PROVIDED “AS IS” WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF 
MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR USE OF A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR NON-
INFRINGEMENT. 

Limitation of Liability.  YOU AGREE THAT MIND WILL NOT BE LIABLE TO YOU FOR ANY 
LOSS OR DAMAGES, EITHER ACTUAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL, ARISING OUT OF OR 
RELATING TO THESE TERMS, OR TO YOUR (OR ANY THIRD PARTY’S) USE OR INABILITY 
TO USE THE SITE, OR TO YOUR PLACEMENT OF CONTENT ON THE SITE, OR TO YOUR 
RELIANCE UPON INFORMATION OBTAINED FROM OR THROUGH THE SITE.  IN 
PARTICULAR, MIND WILL HAVE NO LIABILITY FOR ANY CONSEQUENTIAL, INDIRECT, 
PUNITIVE, SPECIAL OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, WHETHER FORESEEABLE OR 
UNFORESEEABLE, (INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, CLAIMS FOR DEFAMATION, 
ERRORS, LOSS OF DATA, OR INTERRUPTION IN AVAILABILITY OF DATA), ARISING OUT 
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OF OR RELATING TO THESE TERMS, YOUR USE OR INABILITY TO USE A SITE, OR ANY 
PURCHASES ON THIS SITE, OR YOUR PLACEMENT OF CONTENT ON A SITE, OR TO YOUR 
RELIANCE UPON INFORMATION OBTAINED FROM OR THROUGH A SITE, WHETHER 
BASED IN CONTRACT, TORT, STATUTORY OR OTHER LAW, EXCEPT ONLY IN THE CASE 
OF DEATH OR PERSONAL INJURY WHERE AND ONLY TO THE EXTENT THAT APPLICABLE 
LAW REQUIRES SUCH LIABILITY.  OUR AGGREGATE LIABILITY ARISING OUT THE SITES 
OR SERVICES WILL NOT EXCEED THE GREATER OF FIVE DOLLARS ($5) OR THE AMOUNT 
YOU HAVE PAID US IN THE PAST MONTH.  APPLICABLE LAW MAY NOT ALLOW THE 
LIMITATION OR EXCLUSION OF LIABILITY OR INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL 
DAMAGES, SO THE ABOVE LIMITATION OR EXCLUSION MAY NOT APPLY TO YOU. IN 
SUCH CASES, OUR LIABILITY WILL BE LIMITED TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY 
APPLICABLE LAW. 

Release.  YOU HEREBY AGREE TO RELEASE, REMISE AND FOREVER DISCHARGE MIND 
RESEARCH INSTITUTE AND ITS PARNTERS, CUSTOMERS, SPONSORS, LICENSORS, 
DIRECTORS, SHAREHOLDERS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, REPRESENTATIVES, AGENTS, AND 
SUPPLIERS, AND ITS AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, AND ALL 
OTHER RELATED PERSONS OR ENTITIES, FROM ANY AND ALL MANNER OF RIGHTS, 
CLAIMS, COMPLAINTS, SUITS, DEMANDS, CAUSES OF ACTION, PROCEEDINGS, 
LIABILITIES, OBLIGATIONS, LEGAL FEES, COSTS, AND DISBURSEMENTS OF ANY NATURE 
WHATSOEVER, WHETHER KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, WHICH NOW OR HEREAFTER ARISE 
FROM, RELATE TO, OR ARE CONNECTED WITH YOUR USE OF ANY OF THE SITES OR 
SOFTWARE. 

IF YOU ARE A CALIFORNIA RESIDENT, YOU WAIVE CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE SECTION 
1542, WHICH STATES:  “A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE 
CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS FAVOR AT THE TIME OF 
EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH, IF KNOWN BY HIM MUST HAVE MATERIALLY 
AFFECTED HIS SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR” (OR ANY EQUIVALENT STATUTORY 
PROVISION WITH A SIMILAR IMPORT OR INTENT). IF YOU ARE A RESIDENT OF A STATE 
OTHER THAN CALIFORNIA, YOU EXPLICITLY WAIVE THE TERMS AND PROTECTIONS OF 
ANY STATUTE OF YOUR OWN STATE THAT HAS A SIMILAR IMPORT OR INTENT. 

7. Our Marks. 

The logo, name and all graphics on the Site of MIND and its affiliates, are trademarks of MIND, or its 
affiliates.  Use, reproduction, copying or redistribution of trademarks, without the written permission of 
MIND or its affiliates is prohibited.  All other trademarks or service marks appearing on the Site are the 
marks of their respective owners.  Unless otherwise noted, all content on the Site is copyrighted by 
MIND. 

8. Your Representations and Warranties; Indemnification. 

FERPA Compliance.  If you are a school or LEA, you hereby designate MIND Research Institute as an 
“other school official” under  The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. §1232g 
(“FERPA”), that has a “legitimate educational interest” in using and accessing Student Records disclosed 
to us for use of the Sites or Software, and you hereby represent, warrant, and covenant that (a) you have 
obtained all consents necessary in connection with disclosing any Student Records directly or indirectly to 
us, and (b) such disclosures have not and will not violate FERPA. 
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Indemnity.  You agree to indemnify and hold MIND, its subsidiaries, affiliates, partners, customers, 
sponsors, service providers, officers, employees, and agents harmless from any claims, losses, costs or 
damages, including legal fees, resulting from your violation of these Terms, your use of the Site or your 
placement of any link, content or other information on the Site, and your violation of the rights of any 
third party, and to fully cooperate in MIND’s defense against any such claims. 

9. Your Account. 

If you use this site, you are responsible for maintaining the confidentiality of your account and password, 
if any, and for restricting access to your computer, and you agree to accept responsibility for all activities 
that occur under your account or password.  You agree to immediately notify us of any unauthorized use 
of either your password(s) or account(s) or any other breach of security.  MIND is not liable for any loss 
or damage arising from your failure to comply with any of the foregoing obligations.  You further agree 
that you will not permit others, including, without limitation, those whose accounts have been terminated, 
to access our Sites using your account(s) or user ID.  If you are under 18, you may purchase products or 
services only through a parent or guardian.  You agree that billing and registration information you 
provide on the Site will be accurate and complete.  MIND and its affiliates reserve the right to refuse 
service, terminate accounts, remove or edit content, or cancel orders in their sole discretion. 

10. Termination of Use. 

Termination by LEA.  An LEA may terminate use of the Sites or Software by provision of written 
notice of termination to us, pursuant to the notice provisions set forth in Section 11 (General) below.  We 
will terminate use and storage of any Student Records received from the LEA following written notice of 
termination, unless we have received consent directly from such Student, if aged 13 or above, or the 
Student’s parent or legal guardian otherwise, to store such Student Records. 

Termination or Suspension by Us.  We may suspend or terminate your access to all or any part of the 
Sites or Services, or block or disable your access or use of the Apps, at any time, with or without cause, 
with or without notice, effective immediately.  Without limiting the foregoing, we may suspend or 
terminate your access to all or any part of the Sites or Services, or block or disable your access or use of 
the Apps if (a) we believe, in our sole discretion that you are in breach of this Agreement or are acting in 
a manner that shows that you do not intend to, or are unable to, comply with the Terms and Conditions; 
(b) we are required to do so by law (for example, where the provision of Services to you is, or becomes, 
unlawful); (c) we elect to no longer provide the Sites or Services to users in the state or country in which 
you are resident or from which you use the Sites or Services; (d) we believe that your use of the Sites or 
Services may infringe or violate the rights of a third party or subject us or one of our affiliates to civil or 
criminal liability or reputational harm; or (e) we believe such suspension or termination is necessary or 
appropriate to avoid harm to the Sites, Services, or persons; in each such a case, no portion of your 
subscription payment will be refunded.  If we suspend or terminate your access for no reason or for a 
reason other than those set forth in the preceding sentence, we will refund to you any unused portion of 
your subscription payment, if any, which will be your sole and exclusive remedy upon such suspension or 
termination.  Termination may result, in our sole discretion, in the forfeiture and destruction of all 
information associated with your account.  All Terms and Conditions that by their nature should survive 
termination of this Agreement, including, without limitation, ownership provisions, warranty disclaimers, 
indemnity, limitations of liability, shall so survive.  If your account is cancelled or terminated for any 
reason, you will no longer be able to access information under your account. 
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11. General. 

Assignment.  You will not assign any of your rights and obligations under these Terms of Use without 
our prior written consent.  We reserve the right to assign or transfer our rights and obligations under this 
Agreement in connection with an acquisition by or merger with another company, if substantially all of 
our assets are transferred to another company, or as part of a bankruptcy proceeding. 

Severability.  If any provision of these Terms of Use is found to be void or unenforceable, then the 
remainder will have full force and effect, and the invalid provision will be partially enforced to the 
maximum extent permitted by law to effectuate the purpose of these Terms of Use. 

No Waiver.  No waiver of any term of these Terms shall be deemed a further or continuing waiver of 
such term or any other term, and the MIND Research Institute’s failure to assert any right or provision 
under these Terms of Use shall not constitute a waiver of such right or provision. 

Mobile and Internet Usage.  By using the Sites from your mobile phone, you understand that your 
wireless or internet services provider’s standard SMS, MMS and/or data rates will apply to your use of 
the Sites. By using the Sites, you agree to be responsible for any fees that are incurred as a result of your 
use of the Sites.  You hereby represent and warrant that you are the owner or authorized user of any 
mobile or other wireless device that you use to access the Services, and that you are authorized to approve 
all associated SMS, MMS and data charges. 

Certain Third Party Terms.  You agree that, in addition to these Terms, your use of Apps may be 
subject to (a) the usage rules set forth in Amazon Appstore’s terms of use, Apple App Store’s terms of 
use, or Google Play’s terms of service, if you download Amazon Appstore, Apple App Store or Google 
Play, respectively; or (b) those of any other third party platform, developer or distributor end-user license 
agreement and/or terms and conditions by which you agree to be bound when you download or access the 
App. 

Entire Agreement.  These Terms, including our Privacy Policy, together with any legal notices or other 
terms or conditions published on the Sites or in the Software, as applicable (including the Homeschooling 
EULA for those who have licensed such Software) constitute the entire agreement between you and 
MIND and its affiliates with respect to the subject matter herein and supersedes any and all prior or 
contemporaneous oral or written agreements. 

Amendments.  We reserve the right to amend these Terms of Use at any time and any amendments, 
changes or modifications shall be effective immediately upon notice of them.  It is your responsibility to 
review these Terms of Use for any changes.  Your use of the Site following any amendment of these 
Terms of Use will signify your assent to and acceptance of its revised terms. 

Notices.  All notices, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be 
effective upon receipt, provided that we may provide notice to you by posting announcements on any of 
the Sites or sending an e-mail to you at the e-mail address that is currently associated with your account if 
you have one.  Any such e-mail notice to you will be deemed given on the day it is sent.  Except as 
specified in the next sentence, all notices to us of a legal nature shall be in writing and shall be sent by 
certified first-class U.S. mail, return receipt requested, to: 

Attention:  Controller 
 controller@mindresearch.org 
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Mail:  MIND Research Institute 
111 Academy Drive, Suite 100 
Irvine, CA 92617 
Tel:  949-345-8700 or 888-751-5443 (Toll Free) 
Fax:  949-572-2680 

All notices regarding copyright or other intellectual property infringement issues shall be sent as 
described below under Section 12 (Copyright Complaints).  If you have any questions about these Terms, 
then please contact us at the postal address set forth above. 

Our Communications with You.  We may contact you (via the Sites, electronic mail, physical mail or 
otherwise) for the purpose of informing you of changes or additions to the Sites or Software, or of any 
related products and services.  You agree that any notice, agreement, disclosure or other communications 
that we send to you electronically will satisfy any legal communication requirements, including that such 
communications be in writing.  You may opt out of commercial advertising and marketing 
communications at any time by following the unsubscribe instructions included in each communication.  
Please see our Privacy Policy for further information on how we manage and process your personal 
information. 

12. Copyright Complaints. 

MIND respects the intellectual property rights of others.  If you believe your copyright has been violated 
on a MIND Site or any content posted on such Sites, please contact the Controller at 
controller@mindresearch.org or the U.S. Mail address above and provide the following information: 

1. An electronic or physical signature of the person authorized to act on behalf of the owner of the 
copyright interest. 

2. A description of the copyrighted work that you claim has been infringed. 
3. A description of where (by URL and physical description) the material that you claim is infringing 

is located on the Site. 
4. Your address, telephone number, and email address. 
5. A statement by you that you have a good faith belief that the disputed use is not authorized by the 

copyright owner, its agent, or the law. 
6. A statement by you, made under penalty of perjury, that the above information in your notice is 

accurate and that you are the copyright owner or authorized to act on the copyright owner’s 
behalf. 

Upon our receipt of a takedown notice complying materially with all of these requirements, we will 
remove, or cause to be removed, the identified materials.  The individual that had posted such materials 
will then have an opportunity to demand reposting.  You will receive notice of such if the individual 
properly requests reposting.  Repeat offending websites, contributors (if any), or account holders (if any) 
will be terminated. 
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GT.COM Grant Thornton LLP is the U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and each of its member firms 
are separate legal entities and are not a worldwide partnership.     

Board of Directors 
MIND Research Institute 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of MIND 
Research Institute and its subsidiary, which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as of June 30, 2019 and the related consolidated statements of 
activities and changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and the 
related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion  
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of MIND Research Institute and its 
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subsidiary as of June 30, 2019, and the results of their operations and their cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Other Matters 

Report on 2018 summarized comparative information 

We have previously audited MIND Research Institute’s and its subsidiary’s 2018 
consolidated financial statements (not presented herein), and we expressed an 
unmodified audit opinion on those audited consolidated financial statements in our 
report dated October 9, 2018. In our opinion, the accompanying summarized 
comparative information as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018 is consistent, in 
all material respects, with the audited consolidated financial statements from which it 
has been derived. 

 

Los Angeles, California 
October 4, 2019 
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2019 2018
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1,219,011$      756,046$        
Accounts receivable 2,631,903       3,186,689       
Pledges receivable, current, net 3,788,895       1,397,971       
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 310,955          534,944          

Total current assets 7,950,764       5,875,650       

FIXED ASSETS
Equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements 7,210,961       7,036,672       
Less: accumulated depreciation (5,926,439)      (5,098,686)      

Total fixed assets 1,284,522       1,937,986       

OTHER ASSETS
Pledges receivable, noncurrent, net 568,664          2,422,992       
Deposits 57,215            55,407            
Capitalized software development cost 1,098,951       -                 
Intangible assets, net 1,078,477       1,045,655       

Total other assets 2,803,307       3,524,054       

Total assets 12,038,593$    11,337,690$    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 556,744$        461,166$        
Accrued expenses 2,726,556       3,030,775       
Line of credit 2,500,000       604,306          
Deferred revenue, current 4,129,092       4,833,043       
Deferred rent, current 216,150          186,420          

Total current liabilities 10,128,542      9,115,710       

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred revenue, net of current 318,062          607,240          
Deferred rent, net of current 140,019          356,170          

Total non-current liabilities 458,081          963,410          

Total liabilities 10,586,623      10,079,120      

NET ASSETS (DEFICIT)
Without donor restrictions (4,076,636)      (5,266,154)      
With donor restrictions 5,528,606       6,524,724       

Total net assets 1,451,970       1,258,570       

Total liabilities and net assets 12,038,593$    11,337,690$    

Mind Research Institute

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As of June 30, 2019
(With comparative summarized information at June 30, 2018)

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

ASSETS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Without With
Donor Donor 2019 2018

Restrictions Restrictions Total Total
Support and revenues

Contributions 710,759$        4,931,972$     5,642,731$     8,220,214$     
In-kind revenues 87,548            -                     87,548            176,386          

Total fundraising and philanthropy 798,307          4,931,972       5,730,279       8,396,600       

Program fees - schools 21,654,117     -                     21,654,117     22,400,528     

Net assets released from restrictions 5,928,090       (5,928,090)      -                     -                     

Cost of sales (55,478)           -                     (55,478)           (15,200)           

Interest income 12,964            -                     12,964            4,313              
Insurance compensation for theft loss -                     -                     -                     19,012            
Loss on impairment of assets (6,388)             -                     (6,388)             (59,829)           
Gain (loss) on sublease 22,463            -                     22,463            (131,620)         
Loss on termination of lease -                     -                     -                     (124,627)         
Gain (loss) on sale of securities 1,611              -                     1,611              (748)               

Total other support 30,650            -                     30,650            (293,499)         

Total support and revenues 28,355,686     (996,118)         27,359,568     30,488,429     

Expenses
Program 24,038,594     -                     24,038,594     23,073,174     
Management 1,562,692       -                     1,562,692       2,770,134       
Fundraising 1,564,882       -                     1,564,882       1,726,069       

Total expenses 27,166,168     -                     27,166,168     27,569,377     

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 1,189,518       (996,118)         193,400          2,919,052       

Net assets (deficit) at beginning of year (5,266,154)      6,524,724       1,258,570       (1,660,482)      

Net assets (deficit) at end of year (4,076,636)$    5,528,606$     1,451,970$     1,258,570$     

MIND Research Institute

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 

For the year ended June 30, 2019
(With comparative summarized information for the year ended June 30, 2018)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities:

Change in net assets 193,400$        2,919,052$     
Adjustments to reconcile changes in net
  assets to net cash from operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 854,430          944,316          
Donation of equipment and intangible assets (87,548)           (176,386)         
Loss on impairment of intangible assets 6,388              59,829            
(Increase) decrease in assets:

Accounts receivable 554,786          796,148          
Pledge receivables (536,596)         (880,547)         
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 223,989          (205,443)         
Deposits (1,808)             -                     

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable 95,578            (335,618)         
Accrued expenses (304,219)         1,268,339       
Deferred revenues (993,129)         (3,008,033)      
Deferred rent (186,421)         (36,790)           

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (181,150)         1,344,867       

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of fixed assets (86,741)           (384,705)         
Capitalized software (1,098,951)      -                     
Acquisition of intangible assets (65,887)           (150,014)         

Net cash used in investing activities (1,251,579)      (534,719)         

Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowing on line of credit, net 1,895,694       (1,195,694)      

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,895,694       (1,195,694)      

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 462,965          (385,546)         

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 756,046          1,141,592       

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,219,010$     756,046$        

Supplementary information:
Interest paid 36,249$          14,670$          

MIND Research Institute

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended June 30, 2019

(With comparative summarized information for the year ended June 30, 2018)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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MIND Research Institute 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2019 
(With comparative summarized information for the year ended June 30, 2018) 

8 

NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION 

The MIND Research Institute (the “Organization” or “MIND”) is a nonprofit tax-exempt organization which 
was incorporated in April 1998.  The Organization’s mission is to ensure that all students are mathematically 
equipped to solve the world’s most challenging problems through developing and deploying math instructional 
software and systems.  A non-profit organization, MIND also conducts basic neuroscientific, mathematics, and 
education research to improve math education and advance scientific understanding. 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of Accounting and Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the MIND Research Institute and MIND 
Education, Inc., a 98% owned subsidiary, and are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  For the years ended June 30, 
2019 and 2018 MIND Education, Inc. had no assets and no activity.  All intercompany amounts and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Basis of Presentation 

The Organization reports revenues as increases in net assets without donor restrictions, unless there are donor-
imposed purposes and/or time restrictions on the gifted assets.  Expenses are reported as decreases in net 
assets without donor restrictions.  Net assets without donor restrictions represent resources which do not have 
donor-imposed stipulations available to support the Organization’s operations. The Organization has an 
operating reserve for use at management’s discretion subject to the Board of Directors’ approval.  

Net assets with donor restrictions represent gifts that are limited in use by the Organization in accordance with 
donor-imposed stipulations. These stipulations may expire with time or may be satisfied and removed by the 
actions of the Organization according to the terms of the gift.  Net assets with donor restrictions of $5,928,090 
were released from restriction due to the expiration of time restrictions during the year ended June 30, 2019.   

Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
certain reported amounts and disclosures.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Organization considers cash on hand and 
cash in other depository institutions with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable result from the sales of educational programs.  The Organization’s policy is to provide an 
allowance for doubtful accounts, when necessary, to reflect estimated uncollectible accounts.  No allowance 
for doubtful accounts has been provided as management believes all amounts are collectible. 
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MIND Research Institute 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—CONTINUED 

June 30, 2019 
(With comparative summarized information for the year ended June 30, 2018) 

9 

Pledges Receivable 

Unconditional promises to give are recognized in the period received and when collectability is reasonably 
assured.  Conditional promises to give are recognized only when the conditions on which they depend are 
substantially met and the promises become unconditional.  Pledges to be received in more than one year are 
discounted to net present value based on the Wall Street Journal prime rate. 

No allowance for uncollectible amounts has been established as management believes all pledges receivable to 
be fully collectible. 

Equipment, Furniture, and Leasehold Improvements 

Equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements are carried at cost or, if donated, at the approximate fair 
value on the date of donation.  Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method over estimated useful lives.  
The useful lives of equipment and furniture are estimated to range between three and seven years, and leasehold 
improvements are estimated to be the lesser of the lease term or economic life.  Additions and improvements 
that increase the capacity or lengthen the useful lives of the assets are capitalized.  Repairs and maintenance are 
expensed as incurred. 

Software Development Costs 

Computer software developed or obtained for internal use is capitalized when certain criteria have been met. 
Costs incurred during the application development stage for internal-use software are capitalized in equipment, 
furniture, and leasehold improvements and amortized over the estimated useful life of the software, which is 
estimated by management to be five years. 

Computer software development costs for software to be sold or marketed are considered research and 
development activities and are expensed as incurred, with the exception of costs for software that has achieved 
technical feasibility but is not yet commercially marketable.  Such costs are capitalized until the software is 
released on the commercial market, at which time the costs will be amortized as cost of sales. 

Intangible Assets 

Patent, trademark and copyright application costs are capitalized.  When patents are approved, they are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected lives.  Indefinite lived intangible assets are evaluated for 
impairment annually and monitored for triggering events on an ongoing basis.  The Organization determined 
that the carrying value of certain patent, trademark and copyright application costs exceeded their present values 
due to technical obsolescence; thus, the Organization reported a loss from impairment of intangible assets of 
$6,388 and $59,829 during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 respectively. 

Program Fees and Support 

Revenue primarily consists of contributions and sales of educational software, subscriptions and related support 
and training services. 

Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give that is, in substance, unconditional.  All 
contributions are considered to be without donor restrictions unless specifically restricted by the donor. 
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MIND Research Institute 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—CONTINUED 

June 30, 2019 
(With comparative summarized information for the year ended June 30, 2018) 

10 

The Organization’s software sales consist of multiple elements of the above items.  Revenue earned on 
perpetual software arrangements involving multiple elements is allocated to each element based on the relative 
fair values of those elements.  The fair value of an element is based on vendor-specific objective evidence 
(“VSOE”).  The Organization limits its assessment of VSOE of fair value for each element to the price charged 
when the same element is sold separately.  VSOE calculations are updated annually.  The Organization 
establishes VSOE of fair value for the related undelivered elements based on the bell-shaped curve method, 
where the entire population of separate transactions where the element is sold separately is evaluated to 
determine whether the range of prices paid is sufficiently narrow to provide evidence of VSOE of fair value.  
The software portion is recognized upon delivery, and the other elements are recognized ratably over the period 
of service. 

The Organization derives revenue from subscription fees for access to and use of its math education system.  
Term software license fees and support are recognized ratably over the contract term of the arrangement 
beginning on the date that the subscription is made available to the customer because VSOE does not exist. 

When evidence of fair value exists for the undelivered elements only, the residual method is used.  Under the 
residual method, the Organization defers revenue related to the undelivered elements based on VSOE of fair 
value of each of the undelivered elements and allocates the remainder of the contract price net of all discounts 
to revenue recognized from the delivered elements. 

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, the Organization estimates that deferred revenue as of 
its fiscal year end (June 30) which will be recognized as revenue over the subsequent 12 months is 85% and 
89%, respectively. 

The Organization ensures that the following criteria are met prior to recognition of revenue:  there is persuasive 
evidence of an arrangement; the product has been delivered or services have been rendered; the fee is fixed or 
determinable; and collectability is reasonably assured. 

Donated Services and Goods 

The Organization recognizes the contribution of services if the services received require specialized skills, are 
provided by individuals possessing those skills, and would typically need to be purchased if not provided by 
donation.  Contributed services that do not meet the criteria shall not be recognized. 

Donated goods are recorded as contributions at their estimated fair value on the date of donation.  Such 
donations are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets unless the donor has restricted the donated goods 
to a specific purpose. 

401(k) Plan 

The Organization offers a tax-qualified 401(k) defined contribution plan (the “Plan”) to all employees who 
meet eligibility requirements.  Eligible employees are entitled to defer the lesser of 100 percent of their 
compensation or a fixed amount determined annually by the Internal Revenue Service.  The Organization has 
the discretion to match participant contributions.  For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 the Organization 
made Plan matching contributions of $303,298 and $285,460, respectively.  Vesting of the Plan matching 
contributions is based on years of continuous service, and are 100 percent vested after four years of service. 
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Income Tax Status 

The Organization follows guidance that clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions taken or 
expected to be taken in a tax return, including issues relating to financial statement recognition and 
measurement.  This guidance provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can only be recognized 
in the consolidated financial statements if the position is “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained if the position 
were to be challenged by a taxing authority.  The assessment of the tax position is based solely on the technical 
merits of the position, without regard to the likelihood that the tax position may be challenged. 

The Organization is exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code 
(“the Code”), though it is subject to tax on income unrelated to its exempt purpose, unless that income is 
otherwise excluded by the Code.  The Organization has also been recognized by the California Franchise Tax 
Board as an Organization that is exempt from California franchise and income taxes under Section 23701(d) of 
the California Revenue and Taxation Code.  The Organization has processes presently in place to ensure the 
maintenance of its tax-exempt status; to identify and report unrelated income; to determine its filing and tax 
obligations in jurisdictions for which it has nexus; and to identify and evaluate other matters that may be 
considered tax positions.  The Organization has determined that there are no material uncertain tax positions 
that require recognition or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements. 

New Accounting Pronouncements 

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update 
(“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).  ASU 2014-09 supersedes nearly all existing 
revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP.  The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is to recognize revenues 
when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which an entity expects to be entitled for those goods or services.  ASU 2014-09 defines a five step process to 
achieve this core principle and, in doing so, more judgment and estimates may be required within the revenue 
recognition process than are required under existing U.S. GAAP.  The guidance is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2018, using either of the following transition methods: (i) a full retrospective 
approach reflecting the application of the guidance in each prior reporting period with the option to elect 
certain practical expedients, or (ii) a retrospective approach with the cumulative effect of initially adopting ASU 
2014-09 recognized at the date of adoption (which includes additional footnote disclosures).  Management is 
currently evaluating the potential effect of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements and related 
disclosures. 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which increases transparency and 
comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and 
disclosing key information about leasing arrangements.  The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2019.  Management is currently evaluating the potential effect of this guidance on its consolidated 
financial statements and related disclosures. 

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14, Presentation of Financial Statements for Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 
958).  The provisions of this ASU include a change from three classes of net assets to two, net assets with donor 
restrictions and net assets without donor restrictions.  Certain enhanced disclosures are also required.  The 
amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption 
permitted.  The Organization adopted the provisions of this new standard for the year ended June 30, 2019.   
In addition to changes in terminology used to describe categories of net assets throughout the consolidated 
financial statements, new disclosures were added regarding liquidity and the availability of resources (Note 9), 
and disclosures related to functional expenses are at Note 11. 
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Reporting of Subsequent Events 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Organization has evaluated events and transactions 
for potential recognition or disclosure through October 4, 2019, the date the consolidated financial statements 
were available to issue. 

NOTE 3 – PLEDGES RECEIVABLE 

Pledges receivable as of June 30, are as follows: 

 2019 2018 
   
Receivable in less than one year $  3,788,895 $  1,397,971 
Receivable in one to five years 597,200 2,449,200 
Receivable in more than five years  3,600 5,400 
Less:  Present value discounts (32,136) (31,608) 
   
Total pledge receivables, net 4,357,559 3,820,963 
   
Less: Current Portion (3,788,895) (1,397,971) 
   
Noncurrent portion $    568,664 $  2,422,992 

NOTE 4 – EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE, AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS 

A summary of equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements as of June 30 is as follows: 

 2019 2018 
   
Equipment $  5,027,438 $  4,853,149 
Internal use software 657,163 657,163 
Furniture 523,636 523,636 
Leasehold improvements 1,002,724 1,002,724 
 7,210,961 7,036,672 
Less: accumulated depreciation (5,926,439) (5,098,686) 
   

 $  1,284,522 $  1,937,986 
 
For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, depreciation expense recognized was $827,753 and $920,753, 
respectively. 
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NOTE 5 – CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS 

The organization develops software for commercial sale.  Development costs incurred after the software has 
achieved technical feasibility, but before it is commercially marketable, have been capitalized as follows: 

 2019 2018 
   
Capitalized software development costs $ 1,098,951 $ - 

 
These costs will be amortized as cost of sales when the software is released on the commercial market, expected 
in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020. 

NOTE 6 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

A summary of intangible assets as of June 30, is as follows: 

 2019 2018 
   
Patent costs $ 832,724 $ 708,513 
Trademarks and copyrights 409,172 473,884 
 1,241,896 1,182,397 
Less: accumulated amortization (163,419) (136,742) 
   

 $ 1,078,477 $ 1,045,655 
 
For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, amortization expense recognized was $26,677 and $23,563, 
respectively.  The weighted average remaining useful lives of the Organization’s amortizing intangible assets is 
64 months.  The estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets will be approximately 
$23,563 per year. 

NOTE 7 – LINE OF CREDIT 

During November 2018, the Organization renewed its line of credit with a financial institution for $2,000,000.  
The line of credit is collateralized by the Organization’s assets and matures in December 2019.  The line of 
credit bears a variable interest rate based on the Wall Street Journal prime rate plus one quarter of one percent 
(0.250%).  In June 2019, the financial institution approved an increase in the maximum principal amount under 
the line of credit to $2,500,000.  As of June 30, 2019, the line of credit’s interest rate was 4.50 percent.  The line 
of credit requires minimum monthly payments on interest incurred and requires payment of all outstanding 
balances upon maturity.  The line of credit contains customary affirmative and negative covenants.  For the 
years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the outstanding amounts under this line of credit were $2,500,000 and 
$604,306, respectively.  For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Organization incurred interest expense 
and fees of $36,249 and $14,670, respectively. 
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NOTE 8 – NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS 

Net assets with donor restrictions consist of the following as of June 30: 

 2019 2018 
   
Time restricted $ 645,452  $ 701,733  
Purpose restricted 4,883,154  5,822,991  
   
 $  5,528,606  $  6,524,724  

 
Net assets were released from donor restrictions either by incurring expenses, which satisfied the restricted 
purposes or by occurrences of other events specified by donors during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. 

NOTE 9 – LIQUIDITY AND FUNDS AVAILABLE 

The following table reflects the Organization’s financial assets as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, reduced by 
amounts not available for general expenditure within one year.  Financial assets are considered unavailable when 
illiquid or not convertible to cash within one year, are perpetual endowments, or because the Board has set 
aside the funds for a specific contingency reserve.  These Board designations could be drawn upon if the Board 
approves that action. 

 2019 2018    
Financial assets:   

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,219,011 $ 756,046 
Accounts receivable 2,631,903 3,186,689 
Pledges receivable 4,357,559 3,820,963 

   
Financial assets, at year-end 8,208,473 7,763,698 

   
Less those unavailable for general expenditure within  

one year, due to:   
Accounts and pledges receivable collectible beyond one year (568,664) (2,422,992) 
Perpetual and term endowments (20,000) - 
Board designated reserves for future contingencies (522,051) (401,492) 

   
Financial assets available to meet cash needs for general 

expenditures within one year $ 7,097,758 $ 4,939,214 
 

The Organization also has a $2,500,000 line of credit to fund liquidity needs. 
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NOTE 10 - IN-KIND GOODS AND SERVICES 

Many individuals volunteer their time and perform a variety of tasks that assist the Organization.  For the years 
ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, no amounts were recognized in the statement of activities and changes in net 
assets as they did not meet the criteria described in Note 2. 

The Organization also receives donated materials, equipment, and storage space.  For the years ended June 30, 
2019 and 2018, the Organization recognized in-kind revenues of $87,548 and $176,386, respectively. 

NOTE 11 - FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 

The costs of providing the Organization’s various programs and activities have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the table below.  Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs and 
supporting services benefited based on estimates developed by management. 

 2019 2018 

 Program     
Expenses Education Research Total Fundraising Management Total Total 

        
Salaries $14,205,802 $ 1,388,564 $15,594,366 $ 999,549 $ 1,095,966 $17,689,881 $17,516,959 
Benefits 1,465,155 193,269 1,658,424 87,307 108,484 1,854,215 1,878,479 
Payroll taxes 1,000,498 114,430 1,114,928 71,195 80,871 1,266,994 1,180,960 
        
Labor sub-total 16,671,455 1,696,263 18,367,718 1,158,051 1,285,321 20,811,090 20,576,398 
        
Travel, meals & entertainment 1,423,358 67,998 1,491,356 119,924 73,506 1,684,786 1,556,245 
Facility expense 715,380 67,306 782,686 38,220 56,344 877,250 1,194,847 
Outside services 474,664 45,325 519,989 55,116 33,158 608,263 1,446,348 
Conferences & meetings 663,140 2,362 665,502 42,412 9,999 717,913 551,652 
Information technology 854,581 14,241 868,822 14,907 20,580 904,309 361,070 
Office expenses 277,422 7,248 284,670 11,515 18,570 314,755 491,234 
Legal fees 37,056 1,443 38,499 1,378 9,237 49,114 65,157 
Printing & publishing 48,390 97 48,487 2,564 55 51,106 50,530 
Business insurance 78,639 5,194 83,833 4,964 4,981 93,778 95,099 
Accounting & tax fees 54,043 3,403 57,446 3,547 3,180 64,173 119,623 
Interest 30,354 1,974 32,328 1,900 2,021 36,249 14,670 
Other 33,362 198 33,560 65,185 206 98,951 102,186 
Depreciation & amortization 716,164 47,534 763,698 45,199 45,534 854,431 944,318 
        

Totals $22,078,008 $ 1,960,586 $24,038,594 $ 1,564,882 $ 1,562,692 $27,166,168 $27,569,377 
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NOTE 12 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Organization received contributions from members of the 
Organization’s Board of Directors or businesses or charitable entities related to them totaling $1,929,547 and 
$1,572,973, respectively. 

Pledges receivable from the Organization’s Board of Directors or business or charitable entities related to them 
are as follows as of June 30: 

 2019 2018 
   
Related party pledges receivable, current $ 446,637 $ 37,187 
Related party pledges receivable, noncurrent 112,800 132,600 
   

 $ 559,437 $ 169,787 
 
The Organization was provided with inventory storage space by an entity owned by a former member of the 
Organization’s Board of Directors.  For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Organization recognized 
in-kind rent of $2,634 and $2,892, respectively.  

NOTE 13 - LEASE COMMITMENTS 

In September 2012, the Organization entered into a lease agreement for office space located in Irvine, California 
beginning in January 2013.  The term of the lease extends through December 2020 and requires minimum 
monthly rent payments of $50,056.  The lease includes certain tenant improvements and rent abatement during 
the lease period. In March 2018, a portion of the office space was subleased under a sublease agreement expiring 
December 2020.  As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Organization recorded deferred rent of $356,169 and 
$542,590, respectively.  In August 2016, the Organization entered into a lease for office space in Phoenix, 
Arizona, for a term of six months and required minimum monthly rent payments of $450.  In January 2018, 
the term of that lease was extended through September 2018 on a month-to-month basis, requiring minimum 
monthly rent payments of $510.  In April 2017, the Organization entered into a lease for office space in Austin, 
Texas.  In April 2019, that office space was expanded and the lease was extended through May 2020, with 
minimum monthly rent payments of $4,059.  The Organization also leases office equipment under a lease 
maturing in December 2021.  

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, rent expense was $599,297 and $849,260, respectively.  Future 
minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases having initial terms in excess of one year are 
as follows: 

Year ending June 30,  
  
2020 $ 888,708 
2021    498,717 
2022 - 
  

Total $ 1,387,425 
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Future income from the sublease agreement is as follows: 

Year ending June 30, 

2020 $ 164,226 
2021 82,113 
2022 - 

Total $ 246,339 

NOTE 14 - CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Organization received 21% and 27% of its revenue from its 
fundraising activities, respectively.  Management anticipates continued support from its contributors in the 
future to be a substantial portion of the Organization’s revenue. 

Cash deposits in financial institutions may exceed federally insured limits at times during the year.  As of June 
30, 2019 and 2018, the Organization held cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions in excess of the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance amount of $250,000; however, the Organization monitors 
the financial institutions regularly and does not anticipate any losses from these deposits. 

Cash deposited in financial institutions differs from cash presented in the consolidated balance sheets due to 
timing differences. 
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Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants 

 
 
Board of Directors 
MIND Research Institute 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of MIND Research 
Institute and its subsidiary, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as of June 30, 2018 and the related consolidated statements of activities and 
changes in net assets, functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the 
related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of MIND Research Institute and its subsidiary 
as of June 30, 2018, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 
 
Other matters 
 

Report on 2017 summarized comparative information 

We have previously audited MIND Research Institute’s and its subsidiary’s 2017 
consolidated financial statements (not presented herein), and we expressed an unmodified 
audit opinion on those audited consolidated financial statements in our report dated 
November 7, 2017. In our opinion, the accompanying summarized comparative 

information as of and for the year ended June 30, 2017 is consistent, in all material 
respects, with the audited consolidated financial statements from which it has been 
derived. 
 

 
Los Angeles, California 
October 9, 2018 
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MIND Research Institute 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

As of June 30, 2018 
(With comparative summarized information at June 30, 2017) 

 

2018 2017

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 756,046$        1,141,592$     

Accounts receivable 3,186,689       3,982,837       

Pledges receivable, current 1,397,971       2,213,897       

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 534,944          329,501          

Total Current Assets 5,875,650       7,667,827       

FIXED ASSETS

Equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements 7,036,672       6,475,581       

Less: accumulated depreciation (5,098,686)     (4,177,933)     

Total Fixed Assets, net 1,937,986       2,297,648       

OTHER ASSETS

Pledges receivable, noncurrent 2,422,992       726,519          

Deposits 55,407            55,407            

Intangible assets, net 1,045,655       979,033          

Total Other Assets 3,524,054       1,760,959       

TOTAL ASSETS 11,337,690$   11,726,434$   

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 461,166$        796,784$        

Accrued expenses 3,030,775       1,762,436       

Line of credit 604,306          1,800,000       

Deferred revenue, current 4,833,043       7,049,421       

Deferred rent, current 186,420          125,097          

Total Current Liabilities 9,115,710       11,533,738     

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred revenue, net of current 607,240          1,398,895       

Deferred rent, net of current 356,170          454,283          

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 963,410          1,853,178       

TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,079,120     13,386,916     

NET ASSETS (DEFICIT)

Unrestricted (5,266,154)     (6,895,478)     

Temporarily restricted 6,524,724       5,234,996       

Total Net Assets 1,258,570       (1,660,482)     

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 11,337,690$   11,726,434$   

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

ASSETS
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MIND Research Institute 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2018 
(With comparative summarized information for the year ended June 30, 2017) 

 

 

Temporarily 2018 2017

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

SUPPORT AND REVENUES

Contributions 486,112$        7,734,102$        8,220,214$     5,681,259$    

In-kind revenues 176,386          -                    176,386          220,262         

Total Fundraising and Philanthropy 662,498          7,734,102          8,396,600       5,901,521      

Program Fees-Schools 22,400,528     -                    22,400,528     20,654,846    

Net Assets Released from Restrictions 6,444,374       (6,444,374)        -                 -                 

Cost of Sales (15,200)          -                    (15,200)          -                 

Interest income 4,313              -                    4,313              1,923             

Insurance compensation for theft loss 19,012            -                    19,012            -                 

Loss on  Impairment of Assets (59,829)          -                    (59,829)          (256,489)        

Loss on Sublease (131,620)        -                    (131,620)        -                 

Loss on Termination of Lease (124,627)        -                    (124,627)        -                 

Loss on sale of securities (748)               -                    (748)               (3,129)            

Total Other Support (293,499)        -                    (293,499)        (257,695)        

TOTAL SUPPORT AND REVENUES 29,198,701     1,289,728          30,488,429     26,298,672    

EXPENSES

Program 23,073,174     -                    23,073,174     25,499,930    

Management 2,770,134       -                    2,770,134       2,074,470      

Fundraising 1,726,069       -                    1,726,069       1,312,816      

TOTAL EXPENSES 27,569,377     -                    27,569,377     28,887,216    

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 1,629,324       1,289,728          2,919,052       (2,588,544)     

BEGINNING NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) (6,895,478)     5,234,996          (1,660,482)     928,062         

ENDING NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) (5,266,154)$    6,524,724$        1,258,570$     (1,660,482)$   
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MIND Research Institute 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2018 
(With comparative summarized information for the year ended June 30, 2017) 

 

2017

Expenses Education Research Total Management Total Total

Salaries 12,970,352$    1,320,737$   14,291,089$    1,104,949$   2,120,921$   17,516,959$    18,102,456$   

Benefits 1,395,512       176,587        1,572,099       113,492        192,888        1,878,479       2,041,041       

Payroll Taxes 891,113          91,951          983,064          73,220          124,676        1,180,960       1,303,173       

 Labor sub-total 15,256,977     1,589,275     16,846,252     1,291,661     2,438,485     20,576,398     21,446,670     

Travel, Meals & Entertainment 1,280,557       56,613          1,337,170       112,329        106,746        1,556,245       1,653,604       

Facility Expense 956,081          107,089        1,063,170       48,971          82,706          1,194,847       1,239,976       

Outside Services 1,321,105       34,089          1,355,194       81,627          9,527            1,446,348       905,420          

Conferences & Meetings 507,400          1,185            508,585          34,944          8,123            551,652          659,077          

Information Technology 314,378          13,955          328,333          16,110          16,627          361,070          626,297          

Office Expenses 443,253          8,532            451,785          15,009          24,440          491,234          567,734          

Legal Fees 39,818            11,709          51,527            11,576          2,054            65,157            184,608          

Printing & Publishing 49,497            25                 49,522            730               278               50,530            178,125          

Business Insurance 78,035            5,601            83,636            4,920            6,543            95,099            112,846          

Accounting & Tax Fees 99,003            6,952            105,955          5,528            8,140            119,623          42,165            

Interest 12,021            889               12,910            724               1,036            14,670            30,507            

Other 46,411            2,112            48,523            53,210          453               102,186          182,732          

Depreciation & Amortization 775,049          55,563          830,612          48,730          64,976          944,318          1,057,455       

Totals 21,179,585$    1,893,589$   23,073,174$    1,726,069$   2,770,134$   27,569,377$    28,887,216$   

Program

2018

Fundraising
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MIND Research Institute 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2018 
(With comparative summarized information for the year ended June 30, 2017) 

 

 

2018 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in Net Assets 2,919,052$     (2,588,544)$    

Adjustments to reconcile changes in net

  assets to net cash from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 944,316          1,057,455       

Donation of equipment and intangible assets (176,386)        (117,872)        

Loss on disposal of equipment -                 17,030            

Loss on impairment of intangible assets 59,829            256,489          

(Increase) decrease in assets:

Accounts receivable 796,148          2,980,083       

Pledge receivables (880,547)        (2,335,999)     

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (205,443)        (43,719)          

Deposits -                 (3,677)            

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:

Accounts payable (335,618)        227,055          

Accrued expenses 1,268,339       (129,319)        

Deferred revenues (3,008,033)     (8,515)            

Deferred rent (36,790)          (94,857)          

Net Cash Used In Operating Activities 1,344,867       (784,390)        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of fixed assets (384,705)        (237,883)        

Acquisition of intangible assets (150,014)        (391,921)        

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities (534,719)        (629,804)        

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowing on line of credit (1,195,694)     1,800,000       

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities (1,195,694)     1,800,000       

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (385,546)        385,806          

BEGINNING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,141,592       755,786          

ENDING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 756,046$        1,141,592$     

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Interest paid 14,670$          30,507$          
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MIND Research Institute 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

June 30, 2018  
(with comparative summarized information at June 30, 2017) 

 
 
NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION 

 
The MIND Research Institute (the “Organization” or “MIND”) is a nonprofit tax-exempt organization which 
was incorporated in April 1998.  The Organization’s mission is to ensure that all students are mathematically 
equipped to solve the world’s most challenging problems through developing and deploying math instructional 
software and systems.  A non-profit organization, MIND also conducts basic neuroscientific, mathematics, 
and education research to improve math education and advance scientific understanding. 

 
NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Basis of Accounting and Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the MIND Research Institute and MIND 
Education, Inc., a 98% owned subsidiary, and are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  For the years ended June 30, 
2018 and 2017 MIND Education, Inc. had no assets and no activity.  All intercompany amounts and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
Basis of Presentation 
The Organization reports information regarding their financial position and activities according to three classes 
of net assets: unrestricted net assets, temporarily restricted net assets, and permanently restricted net assets. 
 
Unrestricted net assets.  Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions and that may be 
expendable for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of the Organization. 
 
Temporarily restricted net assets.  Net assets that are subject to donor-imposed stipulations that can be fulfilled 
by actions of the Organization pursuant to those stipulations or that expire by the passage of time.  Temporarily 
restricted resources whose restrictions are met during the reporting period are recorded as unrestricted.  
 
Permanently restricted net assets.  Net assets that are subject to donor-imposed stipulations that they be 
maintained permanently by the Organization.  As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Organization did not have 
any permanently restricted net assets. 
 
Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported 
amounts and disclosures.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Organization considers cash on hand and 
cash in other depository institutions with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
Accounts receivable result from the sales of educational programs.  The Organization’s policy is to provide an 
allowance for doubtful accounts, when necessary, to reflect estimated uncollectible accounts.  No allowance 
for doubtful accounts has been provided as management believes all amounts are collectible. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—CONTINUED 
 

June 30, 2018  
(with comparative summarized information at June 30, 2017) 
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NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued 
 
Pledges Receivable 
Unconditional promises to give are recognized in the period received and when collectability is reasonably 
assured.  Conditional promises to give are recognized only when the conditions on which they depend are 
substantially met and the promises become unconditional.  Pledges to be received in more than one year are 
discounted to net present value based on the Wall Street Journal prime rate. 
 
No allowance for uncollectible amounts has been established as management believes all pledges receivable 
to be fully collectible. 
 
Equipment, Furniture, and Leasehold Improvements 
Equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements are carried at cost or, if donated, at the approximate fair 
value on the date of donation.  Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method over estimated useful 
lives.  The useful lives of equipment and furniture are estimated to range between three and seven years, and 
leasehold improvements are estimated to be the lesser of the lease term or economic life.  In 2017, we changed 
the estimate of useful lives and depreciation of personal computers and similar equipment from five years to 
three years.  Additions and improvements that increase the capacity or lengthen the useful lives of the assets 
are capitalized.  Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 
 
Software Development Costs 
Computer software developed or obtained for internal use is capitalized when certain criteria have been met. 
Costs incurred during the application development stage for internal-use software are capitalized in 
equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements and amortized over the estimated useful life of the 
software, which is estimated by management to be five years. 
 
Computer software development costs for software to be sold or marketed are considered research and 
development activities and are expensed as incurred. 
 
Intangible Assets 
Patent, trademark and copyright application costs are capitalized.  When patents are approved, they are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected lives.  Indefinite lived intangible assets are evaluated for 
impairment annually and monitored for triggering events on an ongoing basis. The Organization determined 
that the carrying value of certain patent, trademark and copyright application costs exceeded their present 
values due to technical obsolescence; thus, the Organization reported a loss from impairment of intangible 
assets of $59,829 and $256,489 in FY 2018 and FY 2017 respectively. 
 
Program Fees and Support 
Revenue primarily consists of contributions and sales of educational software, subscriptions and related 
support and training services. 
 
Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give that is, in substance, unconditional.  
All contributions are considered to be unrestricted unless specifically restricted by the donor. 
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June 30, 2018  
(with comparative summarized information at June 30, 2017) 
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NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued  
 
Program Fees and Support (continued) 
 
The Organization’s software sales consist of multiple elements of the above items.  Revenue earned on 
perpetual software arrangements involving multiple elements is allocated to each element based on the 
relative fair values of those elements.  The fair value of an element is based on vendor-specific objective 
evidence (“VSOE”).  The Organization limits its assessment of VSOE of fair value for each element to the 
price charged when the same element is sold separately.  VSOE calculations are updated annually.  The 
Organization establishes VSOE of fair value for the related undelivered elements based on the bell-shaped 
curve method, where the entire population of separate transactions where the element is sold separately is 
evaluated to determine whether the range of prices paid is sufficiently narrow to provide evidence of VSOE 
of fair value. The software portion is recognized upon delivery, and the other elements are recognized ratably 
over the period of service. 
 
The Organization derives revenue from subscription fees for access to and use of its math education system.  
Term software license fees and support are recognized ratably over the contract term of the arrangement 
beginning on the date that the subscription is made available to the customer because VSOE does not exist. 
 
When evidence of fair value exists for the undelivered elements only, the residual method is used.  Under the 
residual method, the Organization defers revenue related to the undelivered elements based on VSOE of fair 
value of each of the undelivered elements and allocates the remainder of the contract price net of all discounts 
to revenue recognized from the delivered elements. 
 
For the years ended June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017, the Organization estimates that deferred revenue as of 
its fiscal year end (June 30) which will be recognized as revenue over the subsequent 12 months is 89% and 
83%, respectively. 
 
The Organization ensures that the following criteria are met prior to recognition of revenue:  there is 
persuasive evidence of an arrangement; the product has been delivered or services have been rendered; the 
fee is fixed or determinable; and collectability is reasonably assured. 
 
Donated Services and Goods 
The Organization recognizes the contribution of services if the services received require specialized skills, are 
provided by individuals possessing those skills, and would typically need to be purchased if not provided by 
donation.  Contributed services that do not meet the criteria shall not be recognized. 
 
Donated goods are recorded as contributions at their estimated fair value on the date of donation.  Such 
donations are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets unless the donor has restricted the donated 
goods to a specific purpose. 
 
Functional Allocation of Expenses 
The costs of providing the various programs and activities have been summarized on a functional basis in 
the statement of activities and changes in net assets.  Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among 
the programs and supporting services benefited based on estimates developed by management. 
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NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued 
 
401(k) Plan 
The Organization offers a tax-qualified 401(k) defined contribution plan (the Plan) to all employees who 
meet eligibility requirements.  Eligible employees are entitled to defer the lesser of 100 percent of their 
compensation or a fixed amount determined annually by the Internal Revenue Service. The Organization has 
the discretion to match participant contributions.  For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 the 
Organization made Plan matching contributions of $285,460 and $295,870, respectively.  Vesting of the Plan 
matching contributions is based on years of continuous service, and are 100 percent vested after four years 
of service. 
 
Income Tax Status 
The Organization follows guidance that clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions taken or 
expected to be taken in a tax return, including issues relating to financial statement recognition and 
measurement. This guidance provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can only be 
recognized in the financial statements if the position is “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained if the position 
were to be challenged by a taxing authority. The assessment of the tax position is based solely on the technical 
merits of the position, without regard to the likelihood that the tax position may be challenged. 
 
The Organization is exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, 
though it is subject to tax on income unrelated to its exempt purpose, unless that income is otherwise excluded 
by the Code. The Organization has also been recognized by the California Franchise Tax Board as an 
Organization that is exempt from California franchise and income taxes under Section 23701(d) of the 
California Revenue and Taxation Code.  The Organization has processes presently in place to ensure the 
maintenance of its tax-exempt status; to identify and report unrelated income; to determine its filing and tax 
Obligations in jurisdictions for which it has nexus; and to identify and evaluate other matters that may be 
considered tax positions. The Organization has determined that there are no material uncertain tax positions 
that require recognition or disclosure in the financial statements. 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). ASU 
2014-09 supersedes nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP. The core principle of 
ASU 2014-09 is to recognize revenues when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an 
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled for those goods or services. 
ASU 2014-09 defines a five step process to achieve this core principle and, in doing so, more judgment and 
estimates may be required within the revenue recognition process than are required under existing U.S. 
GAAP. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, using either of the 
following transition methods: (i) a full retrospective approach reflecting the application of the guidance in 
each prior reporting period with the option to elect certain practical expedients, or (ii) a retrospective 
approach with the cumulative effect of initially adopting ASU 2014-09 recognized at the date of adoption 
(which includes additional footnote disclosures). Management is currently evaluating the potential effect of 
this guidance on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. 
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NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued  
 

New Accounting Pronouncements (continued) 
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which increases transparency and 
comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and 
disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2019. Management is currently evaluating the potential effect of this guidance on its 
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. 
 
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958). The provisions of this 
ASU include a change from three classes of net assets to two, net assets with donor restrictions and net assets 
without donor restrictions. Certain enhanced disclosures are also required. The amendments in this update 
are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The 
Organization is currently in the process of evaluating the impact of adoption of this ASU on its financial 
statements. 
 
Reclassifications 
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year financial statements to conform to current year 
presentation. 
 
Reporting of Subsequent Events 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Organization has evaluated events and transactions 
for potential recognition or disclosure through October 9, 2018, the date the financial statements were 
available to issue. 

 
 
NOTE 3—PLEDGES RECEIVABLE 
 

Pledges receivable as of June 30, are as follows: 
 

2018 2017

Receivable in less than one year 1,397,971$  2,213,897$  

Receivable in greater than one year 2,454,600    766,400       

Less:  Present value discounts (31,608)       (39,881)       

Noncurrent portion 2,422,992    726,519       

Total pledge receivables 3,820,963$  2,940,416$  
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NOTE 4—EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE, AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS 
 

A summary of equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements as of June 30 is as follows: 
 

2018 2017

Equipment 4,853,149$  4,497,123$  

Internal use software 657,163       651,911       

Furniture 523,636       374,586       

Leasehold improvements 1,002,724    951,961       

7,036,672    6,475,581    

Less: accumulated depreciation (5,098,686)   (4,177,933)   

1,937,986$  2,297,648$  
 

 
For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, depreciation expense recognized was $920,753 and $1,036,904, 
respectively. 

 
 
NOTE 5—INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

A summary of intangible assets as of June 30, is as follows: 
 

2018 2017

Patent costs 708,513$     698,467$     

Trademarks and copyrights 473,884       393,745       

   1,182,397    1,092,212    

Less: accumulated amortization (136,742)      (113,179)      

1,045,655$  979,033$     
 

 
For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, amortization expense recognized was $23,563 and $20,551, 
respectively.  The weighted average remaining useful lives of the Organization’s amortizing intangible assets 
is 64 months.  The estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets will be approximately 
$23,563 per year from fiscal 2018 to 2022 thereafter. 

 
 

NOTE 6—LINE OF CREDIT 
 

During November 2017, the Organization renewed its line of credit with a financial institution for $2,000,000.  
The line of credit is collateralized by the Organization’s assets and matures in November 2018.  The line of 
credit bears a variable interest rate based on the Wall Street Journal prime rate plus one quarter of one percent 
(0.250%).  As of June 30, 2018, the line of credit’s interest rate was 4.50 percent.  The line of credit requires 
minimum monthly payments on interest incurred and requires payment of all outstanding balances upon 
maturity.  The line of credit contains customary affirmative and negative covenants. For the years ended June 
30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding amounts under this line of credit was $604,306 and $1,800,000, 
respectively.  For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Organization incurred interest expense and 
fees of $14,670 and $30,507, respectively. 

Page 103 of 121



MIND Research Institute 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—CONTINUED 
 

June 30, 2018  
(with comparative summarized information at June 30, 2017) 

 

13 

NOTE 7—TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS 
 

Temporarily restricted net assets consist of the following as of June 30, is as follows: 
 

  
 
Net assets were released from donor restrictions either by incurring expenses, which satisfied the restricted 
purposes or by the occurrences of other events specified by donors during the years ended June 30, 2018 and 
2017. 
 
 

NOTE 8—IN-KIND GOODS AND SERVICES 
 

Many individuals volunteer their time and perform a variety of tasks that assist the Organization.  For the 
years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, no amounts were recognized in the statement of activities and changes 
in net assets as they did not meet the criteria described in Note 2. 
 
The Organization also receives donated materials, equipment, and storage space.  For the years ended June 
30, 2018 and 2017, the Organization recognized in-kind revenues of $176,386 and $220,262, respectively. 

 
 
NOTE 9—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Organization received contributions from members of the 
Organization’s board of directors or business or charitable entities related to them totaling $1,572,973 and 
$1,237,214, respectively. 
 
Pledges receivable from the Organization’s board of directors or business or charitable entities related to 
them are as follows as of June 30: 
 

  
 
The Organization was provided with inventory storage space by an entity owned by a member of the 
Organization’s board of directors.  For each of the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Organization 
recognized in-kind rent of $2,892. The Organization also purchases legal services from an entity that 
employed a member of the Organization’s board of directors until January 2018.  For the year ended June 
30, 2018, the Organization incurred legal services totaling $53,878 from said legal entity. 

 
 
  

2018 2017

Time restricted 701,733$     726,519$     

Purpose restricted 5,822,991    4,508,477    

6,524,724$  5,234,996$  

2018 2017

Related party pledges receivable, current 37,187$       57,997$       

Related party pledges receivable, noncurrent 132,600       166,400       

169,787$     224,397$     
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NOTE 10—LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 

In September 2012, the Organization entered into a lease agreement for office space located in Irvine, 
California beginning in January 2013.  The term of the lease extends through December 2020 and requires 
minimum monthly rent payments of $50,056.  The lease includes certain tenant improvements and rent 
abatement during the lease period. In March 2018, a portion of the office space was subleased under a 
sublease agreement expiring December 2020. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Organization recorded 
deferred rent of $542,590 and $579,380, respectively.  In August 2016, the Organization entered into a lease 
for office space in Phoenix, Arizona, for a term of six months and required minimum monthly rent payments 
of $450.  In January 2018, the term of that lease was extended through September 2018 on a month-to-month 
basis, requiring minimum monthly rent payments of $510.  In April 2017, the Organization entered into a 
lease for office space in Austin, Texas.  The term of the lease extends through May 2019 and requires 
minimum monthly rent payments of $3,606.  The Organization also leased office equipment with maturities 
ranging from July 2017 to March 2018; such leases were bought out in January 2018.  
 
For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, rent expense was $849,260 and $998,048, respectively.  Future 
minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases having initial terms in excess of one year are 
as follows: 

 
Year ending June 30,  
  

2019 $ 810,443 
2020   804,576 
2021   413,496 
2022   - 

 $ 2,028,515 

 
Future income from the sublease agreement is as follows: 
 

Year ending June 30, 
 

2019 $ 164,226 
2020   164,226 
2021   82,113 
2022   - 

 $ 410,565 

 
 

NOTE 11—CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 
 

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Organization received 27 percent and 22 percent of its 
revenue from its fundraising activities, respectively.  Management anticipates continued support from its 
contributors in the future to be a substantial portion of the Organization’s revenue. 
 
Cash deposits in financial institutions may exceed federally insured limits at times during the year.  As of  
June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Organization held cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions in excess of 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance amount of $250,000; however, the Organization 
monitors the financial institutions regularly and does not anticipate any losses from these deposits. 
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NOTE 11—CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK - Continued 
 
Cash deposited in financial institutions differs from cash presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position due to timing differences. 
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Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants 

 
 
Board of Directors 
MIND Research Institute 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of MIND Research 
Institute and its subsidiary, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as of June 30, 2017 and the related consolidated statements of activities and 
changes in net assets, functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the 
related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of MIND Research Institute and its subsidiary 
as of June 30, 2017, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 
 
Other matters 
 

Report on 2016 summarized comparative information 

We have previously audited MIND Research Institute’s and its subsidiary’s 2016 
consolidated financial statements (not presented herein), and we expressed an unmodified 
audit opinion on those audited consolidated financial statements in our report dated 
September 30, 2016. In our opinion, the accompanying summarized comparative 
information as of and for the year ended June 30, 2016 is consistent, in all material 
respects, with the audited consolidated financial statements from which it has been 
derived. 

 
Los Angeles, California 
November 7, 2017 
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MIND Research Institute 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

As of June 30, 2017 
(With comparative summarized information at June 30, 2016) 

 
  

2017 2016

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1,141,592$        755,786$          

Accounts receivable 3,982,837         6,962,920         

Pledges receivable, current 2,213,897         386,563            

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 329,501            285,782            

Total Current Assets 7,667,827         8,391,051         

FIXED ASSETS

Equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements 6,475,581         6,159,637         

Less: accumulated depreciation (4,177,933)        (3,163,810)        

Total Fixed Assets, net 2,297,648         2,995,827         

OTHER ASSETS

Pledges receivable, noncurrent 726,519            217,854            

Deposits 55,407              51,730              

Intangible assets, net 979,033            864,152            

Total Other Assets 1,760,959         1,133,736         

TOTAL ASSETS 11,726,434$      12,520,614$      

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 796,784$          569,729$          

Accrued expenses 1,762,436         1,891,755         

Line of credit 1,800,000         -                  

Deferred revenue, current 7,049,421         6,328,169         

Deferred rent, current 125,097            94,857              

Total Current Liabilities 11,533,738        8,884,510         

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred revenue, net of current 1,398,895         2,128,662         

Deferred rent, net of current 454,283            579,380            

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 1,853,178         2,708,042         

TOTAL LIABILITIES 13,386,916        11,592,552        

NET ASSETS (DEFICIT)

Unrestricted (6,895,478)        (2,333,978)        

Temporarily restricted 5,234,996         3,262,040         

Total Net Assets (1,660,482)        928,062            

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 11,726,434$      12,520,614$      

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

ASSETS
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MIND Research Institute 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 

 
For the year ended June 30, 2017 

(With comparative summarized information for the year ended June 30, 2016) 

 
  

Temporarily 2017 2016

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

SUPPORT AND REVENUES

Contributions 405,449$          5,275,810$        5,681,259$        5,594,441$       

In-kind revenues 220,262            -                  220,262            816,548           

Total Fundraising and Philanthropy 625,711            5,275,810         5,901,521         6,410,989         

Program Fees-Schools 20,654,846        -                  20,654,846        22,683,994       

Net Assets Released from Restrictions 3,302,854         (3,302,854)        -                  -                  

Interest income 1,923               -                  1,923               151                 

Loss on sale of securities (3,129)              -                  (3,129)              (596)                

Total Other Support (1,206)              -                  (1,206)              (445)                

TOTAL SUPPORT AND REVENUES 24,582,205        1,972,956         26,555,161        29,094,538       

EXPENSES

Program 25,756,419        -                  25,756,419        25,593,558       

Management 2,074,470         -                  2,074,470         1,881,030         

Fundraising 1,312,816         -                  1,312,816         1,366,554         

TOTAL EXPENSES 29,143,705        -                  29,143,705        28,841,142       

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (4,561,500)        1,972,956         (2,588,544)        253,396           

BEGINNING NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) (2,333,978)        3,262,040         928,062            674,666           

ENDING NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) (6,895,478)$       5,234,996$        (1,660,482)$       928,062$          
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MIND Research Institute 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2017 
(With comparative summarized information for the year ended June 30, 2016) 

 

 
 
 
  

2016

Expenses Education Research Total Management Total Total

Salaries 15,183,872$      606,647$       15,790,519$   839,145$       1,472,792$    18,102,456$   18,889,195$   

Benefits 1,651,691          89,047          1,740,738      117,595         182,708         2,041,041      1,741,246      

Payroll Taxes 1,103,320          45,254          1,148,574      60,313          94,286          1,303,173      1,316,886      

 Labor sub-total 17,938,883        740,948         18,679,831    1,017,053      1,749,786      21,446,670    21,947,327    

Travel, Meals and Entertainment 1,426,685          76,933          1,503,618      65,926          84,060          1,653,604      1,736,218      

Facility Expense 1,070,586          46,023          1,116,609      50,645          72,722          1,239,976      1,412,181      

Outside Services 721,849            137,889         859,738         33,118          12,564          905,420         585,864         

Conferences and Meetings 634,720            781               635,501         14,602          8,974            659,077         848,825         

Information Technology 584,639            7,706            592,345         17,216          16,736          626,297         424,520         

Office Expenses 530,500            4,289            534,789         14,576          18,369          567,734         542,987         

Legal Fees 162,069            2,887            164,956         12,645          7,007            184,608         267,725         

Printing and Publishing 158,288            203               158,491         18,443          1,191            178,125         123,345         

Business Insurance 96,108              4,259            100,367         4,986            7,493            112,846         62,716          

Accounting and Tax Fees 36,416              1,171            37,587          1,970            2,608            42,165          60,949          

Interest 25,549              1,435            26,984          1,361            2,162            30,507          91,374          

Other 171,202            9,890            181,092         1,296            344               182,732         34,779          

Depreciation and Amortization 901,413            38,178          939,591         47,487          70,377          1,057,455      702,332         

Impairment of Intangible Assets 218,353            6,567            224,920         11,492          20,077          256,489         -               

Totals 24,677,260$      1,079,159$    25,756,419$   1,312,816$    2,074,470$    29,143,705$   28,841,142$   

2017

Program

Fundraising
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MIND Research Institute 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 
For the year ended June 30, 2017 

(With comparative summarized information for the year ended June 30, 2016) 

 

 
 

2017 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in Net Assets (2,588,544)$       253,396$          

Adjustments to reconcile changes in net

  assets to net cash from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 1,057,455         702,332            

Donation of equipment and intangible assets (117,872)           (804,056)           

Loss on sale, disposal or theft of equipment 17,030              1,072               

Loss on impairment of intangible assets 256,489            -                  

(Increase) decrease in assets:

Accounts receivable 2,980,083         (2,594,741)        

Pledge receivables (2,335,999)        823,388            

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (43,719)             (23,714)             

Deposits (3,677)              -                  

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:

Accounts payable 227,055            (141,170)           

Accrued expenses (129,319)           (30,211)             

Deferred revenues (8,515)              1,858,369         

Deferred rent (94,857)             (64,611)             

Net Cash Used In Operating Activities (784,390)           (19,946)             

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of fixed assets (237,883)           (615,938)           

Acquisition of intangible assets (391,921)           (182,268)           

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities (629,804)           (798,206)           

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowing on line of credit 1,800,000         -                  

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 1,800,000         -                  

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 385,806            (818,152)           

BEGINNING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 755,786            1,573,938         

ENDING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,141,592$        755,786$          

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Interest paid 30,507$            91,374$            
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MIND Research Institute 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

June 30, 2017 (with comparative summarized information at June 30, 2016) 
 
 
NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION 

 
The MIND Research Institute (the “Organization” or “MIND”) is a nonprofit tax exempt organization which 
was incorporated in April 1998.  The Organization’s mission is to ensure that all students are mathematically 
equipped to solve the world’s most challenging problems through developing and deploying math instructional 
software and systems.  A non-profit organization, MIND also conducts basic neuroscientific, mathematics, 
and education research to improve math education and advance scientific understanding. 

 
NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Basis of Accounting and Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the MIND Research Institute and MIND 
Education, Inc., a 98% owned subsidiary, and are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  For the years ended June 30, 
2017 and 2016, MIND Education, Inc. had no assets and no activity.  All intercompany amounts and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
Basis of Presentation 
The Organization reports information regarding their financial position and activities according to three classes 
of net assets: unrestricted net assets, temporarily restricted net assets, and permanently restricted net assets. 
 
Unrestricted net assets.  Net assets that are not subject to donor imposed restrictions and that may be 
expendable for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of the Organization. 
 
Temporarily restricted net assets.  Net assets that are subject to donor-imposed stipulations that can be fulfilled 
by actions of the Organization pursuant to those stipulations or that expire by the passage of time.  Temporarily 
restricted resources whose restrictions are met in the same reporting period are recorded as unrestricted.  
 
Permanently restricted net assets.  Net assets that are subject to donor-imposed stipulations that they be 
maintained permanently by the Organization.  As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Organization did not have 
any permanently restricted net assets. 
 
Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported 
amounts and disclosures.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Organization considers cash on hand and 
cash in other depository institutions with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
Accounts receivable result from the sales of educational programs.  The Organization’s policy is to provide an 
allowance for doubtful accounts, when necessary, to reflect estimated uncollectible accounts.  No allowance 
for doubtful accounts has been provided as management believes all amounts are collectible. 
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NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Pledges Receivable 
Unconditional promises to give are recognized in the period received and when collectability is reasonably 
assured.  Conditional promises to give are recognized only when the conditions on which they depend are 
substantially met and the promises become unconditional.  Pledges to be received in more than one year are 
discounted to net present value based on the Wall Street Journal prime rate. 
 
No allowance for uncollectible amounts has been established as management believes all pledges receivable 
to be fully collectible. 
 
Equipment, Furniture, and Leasehold Improvements 
Equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements are carried at cost or, if donated, at the approximate fair 
value on the date of donation.  Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method over estimated useful 
lives.  The useful lives of equipment and furniture are estimated to range between three and seven years, and 
leasehold improvements are estimated to be the lesser of the lease term or economic life.  In 2017, we changed 
the estimate of useful lives and depreciation of personal computers and similar equipment from five years to 
three years.  Additions and improvements that increase the capacity or lengthen the useful lives of the assets 
are capitalized.  Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 
 
Software Development Costs 
Computer software developed or obtained for internal use is capitalized when certain criteria have been met. 
Costs incurred during the application development stage for internal-use software are capitalized in 
equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements and amortized over the estimated useful life of the 
software, which is estimated by management to be five years. 
 
Computer software development costs for software to be sold or marketed are considered research and 
development activities and are expensed as incurred. 
 
Intangible Assets 
Patent, trademark and copyright application costs are capitalized.  When patents are approved, they are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected lives.  Indefinite lived intangible assets are evaluated for 
impairment annually and monitored for triggering events on an ongoing basis.  There was no impairment of 
intangible assets during the year ended June 30, 2016, but in the year ended June 30, 2017, the Organization 
determined that the carrying value of certain patent, trademark and copyright application costs exceeded their 
present values due to technical obsolescence; thus, the Organization reported a loss from impairment of 
intangible assets of $256,489, as shown in the accompanying Statement of Functional Expenses. 
 
Program Fees and Support 
Revenue primarily consists of contributions and sales of educational software, subscriptions and related 
support and training services. 
 
Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give that is, in substance, unconditional.  
All contributions are considered to be unrestricted unless specifically restricted by the donor. 
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NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Program Fees and Support (continued) 
 
The Organization’s software sales consist of multiple elements of the above items.  Revenue earned on 
software arrangements involving multiple elements is allocated to each element based on the relative fair 
values of those elements.  The fair value of an element is based on vendor-specific objective evidence 
(“VSOE”).  The Organization limits its assessment of VSOE of fair value for each element to the price 
charged when the same element is sold separately.  VSOE calculations are updated annually.  The 
Organization establishes VSOE of fair value for the related undelivered elements based on the bell-shaped 
curve method, where the entire population of separate transactions where the element is sold separately is 
evaluated to determine whether the range of prices paid is sufficiently narrow to provide evidence of VSOE 
of fair value. 
 
The Organization derives revenue from subscription fees for access to and use of its math education system.  
Subscription fees are recognized ratably over the contract term of the arrangement beginning on the date 
that the subscription is made available to the customer. 
 
When evidence of fair value exists for the undelivered elements only, the residual method is used.  Under the 
residual method, the Organization defers revenue related to the undelivered elements based on VSOE of fair 
value of each of the undelivered elements and allocates the remainder of the contract price net of all discounts 
to revenue recognized from the delivered elements. 
 
For the years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, the Organization estimates that deferred revenue as of 
its fiscal year end (June 30) which will be recognized as revenue over the subsequent 12 months is 83% and 
75%, respectively. 
 
The Organization ensures that the following criteria are met prior to recognition of revenue:  there is 
persuasive evidence of an arrangement; the product has been delivered or services have been rendered; the 
fee is fixed or determinable; and collectability is reasonably assured. 
 
Donated Services and Goods 
The Organization recognizes the contribution of services if the services received require specialized skills, are 
provided by individuals possessing those skills, and would typically need to be purchased if not provided by 
donation.  Contributed services that do not meet the criteria shall not be recognized. 
 
Donated goods are recorded as contributions at their estimated fair value on the date of donation.  Such 
donations are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets unless the donor has restricted the donated 
goods to a specific purpose. 
 
Functional Allocation of Expenses 
The costs of providing the various programs and activities have been summarized on a functional basis in 
the statement of activities and changes in net assets.  Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among 
the programs and supporting services benefited based on estimates developed by management. 
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NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
401(k) Plan 
The Organization offers a tax-qualified 401(k) defined contribution plan (the Plan) to all employees who 
meet eligibility requirements.  Eligible employees are entitled to defer the lesser of 100 percent of their 
compensation or a fixed amount determined annually by the Internal Revenue Service. The Organization has 
the discretion to match participant contributions.  For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 the 
Organization made Plan matching contributions of $295,870 and $205,337, respectively.  Vesting of the Plan 
matching contributions is based on years of continuous service, and are 100 percent vested after four years 
of service. 
 
Income Tax Status 
The Organization is exempt from income taxes under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) and California 
Revenue Code Section 23701(d).  The Organization is classified by the Internal Revenue Service as an entity 
that is not a private foundation within the meaning of Section 509(a) and qualifies for deductible contributions 
as provided in Section 170(c)(2).  Income for certain activities not directly related to the Organization’s tax-
exempt purpose is subject to unrelated business income taxation. 
 
The Organization evaluates uncertain tax positions whereby the effect of the uncertainty would be recorded 
if the tax positions will more likely than not be sustained upon examination.  As of June 30, 2017, management 
does not believe the Organization has any uncertain tax positions requiring accrual or disclosure.  The 
Organization is subject to potential income tax audits on open tax years by any taxing jurisdiction in which it 
operates.  The statute of limitations for federal and California state purposes is generally three and four years, 
respectively. 
 
Reporting of Subsequent Events 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Organization has evaluated events and transactions 
for potential recognition or disclosure through November 7, 2017, the date the financial statements were 
available to issue. 

 
 
NOTE 3—PLEDGES RECEIVABLE 
 

Pledges receivable as of June 30, are as follows: 
 

 
 
  

Receivable in less than one year 2,213,897$ 386,563$   

Receivable in greater than one year 766,400$   245,200$   

Less:  Present value discounts (39,881)      (27,346)      

Noncurrent portion 726,519     217,854     

Total pledge receivables 2,940,416$ 604,417$   

2017 2016
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NOTE 4—EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE, AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS 
 

A summary of equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements as of June 30 is as follows: 
 

 
 

For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, depreciation expense recognized was $1,036,904, which includes 
$22,781 from disposal of equipment, and $683,861, respectively. 

 
 
NOTE 5—INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

A summary of intangible assets as of June 30, is as follows: 
 

 
 
For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, amortization expense recognized was $20,551 and $18,471, 
respectively.  The weighted average remaining useful lives of the Organization’s amortizing intangible assets 
is 73 months.  The estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets will be approximately 
$23,563 per year from fiscal 2018 to 2022 thereafter. 

 
 

NOTE 6—LINE OF CREDIT 
 

During November 2016, the Organization renewed its line of credit with a financial institution for up to 
$3,700,000.  The line of credit is collateralized by the Organization’s assets and matures in November 2017.  
The line of credit bears a variable interest rate based on the Wall Street Journal prime rate plus one quarter of 
one percent (0.250%).  As of June 30, 2017, the line of credit’s interest rate was 4.50 percent.  The line of 
credit requires minimum monthly payments on interest incurred and requires payment of all outstanding 
balances upon maturity.  The line of credit contains customary affirmative and negative covenants.  As of 
June 30, 2017, the Organization was not in compliance with all covenants, but obtained a waiver from the 
lender.  For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the outstanding amounts under this line of credit was 
$1,800,000 and $0, respectively.  For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Organization incurred 
interest expense and fees of $30,507 and $91,374, respectively.  

2017 2016

Equipment 4,497,123$ 4,352,807$ 

Internal use software 651,911     487,683     

Furniture 374,586     373,871     

Leasehold improvements 951,961     945,276     

6,475,581  6,159,637  

Less: accumulated depreciation (4,177,933) (3,163,810) 

2,297,648$ 2,995,827$ 

2017 2016

Patent costs 698,467$   644,307$   

Trademarks and copyrights 393,745     312,473     

   1,092,212  956,780     

Less: accumulated amortization (113,179)    (92,628)      

979,033$   864,152$   
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NOTE 7—TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS 
 

Temporarily restricted net assets consist of the following as of June 30, is as follows: 
 

 
 
Net assets were released from donor restrictions either by incurring expenses, which satisfied the restricted 
purposes or by the occurrences of other events specified by donors during the years ended June 30, 2017 and 
2016. 

 
 
NOTE 8—IN-KIND GOODS AND SERVICES 
 

Many individuals volunteer their time and perform a variety of tasks that assist the Organization.  For the 
years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, no amounts were recognized in the statement of activities and changes 
in net assets as they did not meet the criteria described in Note 2. 
 
The Organization also receives donated materials, equipment, and storage space.  For the years ended June 
30, 2017 and 2016, the Organization recognized in-kind revenues of $220,262 and $816,548, respectively. 

 
 
NOTE 9—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Organization received contributions from members of the 
Organization’s board of directors or business or charitable entities related to them totaling $1,237,214 and 
$777,252, respectively. 
 
Pledges receivable from the Organization’s board of directors or business or charitable entities related to 
them are as follows as of June 30: 
 

 
 
The Organization was provided with inventory storage space by an entity owned by a member of the 
Organization’s board of directors.  For each of the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Organization 
recognized in-kind rent of $2,892. The Organization also purchases legal services from an entity that employs 
a member of the Organization’s board of directors.  For the year ended June 30, 2017, the Organization 
incurred legal services totaling $181,367 from said legal entity. 

  

2017 2016

Time restricted 726,519$   217,041$   

Purpose restricted 4,508,477  3,044,999  

5,234,996$ 3,262,040$ 

2017 2016

Related party pledges receivable, current 57,997$     303,313$   

Related party pledges receivable, noncurrent 166,400     217,854     

224,397$   521,167$   
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NOTE 10—LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 

In September 2012, the Organization entered into a lease agreement for office space located in Irvine, 
California beginning in January 2013.  The term of the lease extends through December 2020 and requires 
minimum monthly rent payments of $50,056.  The lease includes certain tenant improvements and rent 
abatement during the lease period.  As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Organization recorded deferred rent 
of $579,380 and $674,237, respectively.  In August 2016, the Organization entered into a lease for office space 
in Phoenix, Arizona, for a term of six months and required minimum monthly rent payments of $450.  In 
August 2017, the term of that lease was extended through August 2018, and requires minimum monthly rent 
payments of $500.  In April 2017, the Organization entered into a lease for office space in Austin, Texas.  
The term of the lease extends through May 2019 and requires minimum monthly rent payments of $3,606.  
The Organization also leases office equipment with maturities ranging from July 2017 to March 2018. 
 
For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, rent expense was $998,048 and $1,010,213, respectively.  Future 
minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases having initial terms in excess of one year are 
as follows: 

 
Year Ending 
June 30,  
  

2018 $ 851,766 
2019   805,313 
2020   799,446 
2021   408,366 

 $ 2,864,891 

 
 
NOTE 11—CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 
 

For each of the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Organization received 22 percent of its revenue 
from its fundraising activities.  Management anticipates continued support from its contributors in the future 
to be a substantial portion of the Organization’s revenue. 
 
Cash deposits in financial institutions may exceed federally insured limits at times during the year.  As of  
June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Organization held cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions in excess of 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance amount of $250,000; however, the Organization 
monitors the financial institutions regularly and does not anticipate any losses from these deposits. 
 
Cash deposited in financial institutions differs from cash presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position due to timing differences. 
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